

COVID-19 and Older Persons in the Asia-Pacific Region: The Health, Social and Economic Impacts of a Global Pandemic







United Nations Publication Copyright © United Nations, 2022 All rights reserved Printed in Bangkok ST/ESCAP/3025

Please cite this paper as:

United Nations, Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) (2022). COVID-19 and Older Persons in the Asia-Pacific Region: The Health, Social and Economic Impacts of a Global Pandemic Available from: <u>https://www.unescap.org/kp/2022/covid-19-and-older-persons-asia-pacific-region-health-social-and-economic-impacts-global</u>

For more information, please contact: Social Development Division Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) Email: <u>escap-sdd@un.org</u>

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the United Nations or other international agencies. The publication has been issued without formal editing. Mention of any firm or licensed process does not imply endorsement by the United Nations. Links contained in the present publication are provided for the convenience of the reader and are correct at the time of issue. The United Nations takes no responsibility for the continued accuracy of that information or for the content of any external website. Reproduction and dissemination of material in this publication for educational or other non-commercial purposes are authorized without prior written permission from the copyright holder, provided that the source is fully acknowledged.

Acknowledgements

This paper was drafted by Paul Kowal, ESCAP consultant, between October 2021 and January 2022, based on desk research and seeking inputs from a group of experts. The author would like to thank Andy Towers, Erin Philipp and Farzanah Desai for their inputs, as well as, from the ESCAP Social Development Division: Sabine Henning, who guided and reviewed the work; Marco Roncarati, who reviewed and edited the document; and Supatra Kaewchana, Lawan Uppapakdee and Hakim Horton, who provided support in formatting the graphs and text.





Contents

Fi	gures and boxes
Ac	ronyms and abbreviations5
AŁ	ostract6
1.	COVID-19 and older persons: A global context
2.	COVID-19 and older persons: The Asia-Pacific context
3.	Health impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific
4.	Social impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific
5.	Economic impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific
6.	Conclusion and recommendations 44
Re	ferences





Figures and boxes

Figure 1: COVID-19 impact on older persons9
Figure 2: Vaccination rates for countries in the Asia-Pacific region per 100 people, November 2021
Figure 3: The age distribution of COVID-19-related deaths and excess deaths in 2020
Figure 4: Percentage of total confirmed COVID-19-related deaths linked with LTCF, mid-2020
Figure 5: Share of LTCF residents whose deaths were linked to COVID-19 compared to LTFC population, mid-2020
Figure 6: Years of Life Lost (YLL) for 30 high-incidence countries worldwide, July 2020
Figure 7: Daily life routines affected by COVID-19 for older men and women in Thailand, July 2020, percentage
Figure 8: Indication of change in family environment in Armenia during the COVID-19 pandemic, July – December 2020
Figure 9: Indication of general life change for older adults in Armenia during the COVID-19 pandemic, July – December 2020
Figure 10: Proportion of regional interventions reflecting social assistance, social insurance and labour market interventions
Figure 11: Specific social protection responses by countries in Asia and the Pacific that targeted older populations
Figure 12: The impact of COVID-19 on income of older men and women in Thailand, 2020, percentage 39
Figure 13: Economic impact of COVID-19 on household income in Armenia, 2020, percentage
Figure 14: Economic impact of COVID-19 on household income in Cambodia 2020, percentage
Figure 15: An overview of the impacts of COVID-19 on older persons
Box 1 : COVID-19 rapid needs assessment of older persons17
Box 2 : Comparing the COVID-19 experience for older persons: Voices from Malaysia, the Republic of Korea and Turkey





Acronyms and abbreviations

- ESCAP United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
- HIC high-income countries
- LMIC low- and middle-income countries
- LTCF long-term care facility
- MIPAA Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing
- WHO World Health Organization
- YLL years of life lost





Abstract

In the early months of 2020, the plight of older persons in the emerging context of a global COVID-19 pandemic was becoming clear. Due largely to the presence of underlying health conditions, death from SARS-CoV-2 was significantly higher among those aged 80 or older than the global average. In one estimate, older persons, particularly those with comorbidities, accounted for 14 per cent of positive cases worldwide but 80 per cent of COVID19-related deaths.⁶

In addition to the direct effects, public health orders that included movement restriction orders, lockdowns and other restrictions on normal activities affected the health, social and economic status of older persons in many ways.

Gaining a comprehensive understanding of the impacts of COVID-19 on older persons is difficult given the lack of age-disaggregated data and analysis globally, an issue that pre-dates the pandemic and reflects the invisibility of this population to policymakers.

A focus on Asia and the Pacific is needed to understand the health, social and economic impacts of COVID-19 on older populations in the most populous world region, which is culturally diverse and a driver of economic growth and innovation. Asia and the Pacific is also home to the largest number of older persons worldwide, and population ageing is occurring very rapidly compared to other regions of the world.

Regardless of the level of success of vaccination programmes across Asia and the Pacific, one theme has become clear regarding programme roll-out: the lack of older adult voices. Health and social policies implemented to safeguard older persons and the general population have been developed with no input from older persons themselves.

For many older persons in Asia and the Pacific, the pandemic and related government interventions resulted in significant changes in their lifestyle, and their ability to maintain their physical and mental health.

Older persons accounted for a small proportion of COVID-19 infections but were at heightened risk of death from the virus.⁵ However, the proportion of COVID-19 related deaths in older populations was clearly different across countries, likely reflecting factors such as economic and health resource access. In addition to advanced age, a critical factor linking many of the cases of COVID-19 deaths across the region was the presence of key comorbid health conditions.

The gendered outcomes from COVID-19 were another central component of this pandemic. Broadly speaking, older men in Asia and the Pacific tended to bear the physical health burden of COVID-19, while women tended to bear its mental health and social burden.⁵

Initial social lockdown measures implemented to restrict the spread of COVID-19 were clearly understood as harm-reduction measures to reduce the risk of older persons being infected with the virus. However, acceptance of and adherence to these restrictions varied across the region, likely reflecting differences in population experiences of prior pandemics and contagion control measures.

There is evidence to suggest that the impact of social isolation on older persons in the region was worse for some than for others. Fundamental to the negative impact of social isolation was the loss of social support, particularly for those living alone. However, access to information technology underpinned enhanced connections for some older persons during the pandemic. Social engagement (including online) and volunteering were found to be factors that supported well-being and reduced the impact of potential social isolation. Efforts to improve digital





literacy and achieve equal access to digital services would mitigate against potential digital divides and inequalities in future pandemics.

Many countries throughout the region responded to the COVID-19 pandemic with interventions intended to support labour market stability or enhance social protection. Nevertheless, the mix of these interventions varied considerably both between countries and across subregions, and only a minority of such interventions specifically targeted older populations. Consequently, interventions have likely had a mixed effect on older persons across the region, with some enhancing the economic well-being of older adults and others eroding it.

Despite an absence of data with which to explore concerns regarding enhanced workforce exit during the pandemic, there were country-specific data to suggest that COVID-19 significantly affected the income and economic security of older persons – and evidence that economic support measures were available and accessed by older persons even in lower income countries in the region.

This report summarizes current evidence (until December 2021) concerning the direct impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on older persons in Asia and the Pacific, and the downstream individual and societal consequences – covering economic, health and social impacts – which align well with the three Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing priority directions. There are also some references to the impact of the pandemic on the respect for human rights of older persons, though this is not the main focus of this paper.

Keywords: Older persons, Asia and the Pacific, COVID-19, health, economic, social





1. COVID-19 and older persons: A global context



Since the early stages of the global COVID-19 pandemic, older persons have universally been identified as a cohort at significant risk of virus-related morbidity and mortality. However, growing concern has been raised that their health, wealth and social connections are also increasingly at-risk due to the social, economic and public health measures intended to limit the spread of the virus.

The COVID-19 pandemic has occurred during a global epidemiological transition over the past century that has seen significant declines in deaths from infectious diseases and the rising epidemic of mortality and morbidity from chronic non-communicable diseases. The overall reduction in disease burden from communicable diseases was accelerated in the year 2000, with the Millennium Development Goals and significant development assistance for health to address diarrhoea, pneumonia, malaria, tuberculosis and HIV. Yet, events since early 2020 have shown that the infectious diseases era has not ended even while countries struggle to make progress on slowing the endemic rise in chronic diseases.^{2, 3} Instead, viruses, parasites, fungi and bacteria – combined with antibiotic resistance – are emergent or re-emergent and remain an ongoing concern, including Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV2), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), Ebola, Zika, Chikungunya, and avian and swine influenza epidemics.⁴ The societal impacts from the SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19) pandemic elicited a unique warning issued by the United Nations (see introductory quote above).¹¹

In the early months of 2020, the plight of older persons in the emerging context of a global COVID-19 pandemic was becoming clear. By May 2020, the United Nations Secretary-General had issued a policy brief on the impact of COVID-19 on older persons (figure 1). This identified particular risks that COVID-19 presented to older persons. In follow-up, more than 140 Member States highlighted, in a joint statement, their support for the main messages of the policy brief, and they committed to "working with all partners to strengthen global and national target responses to address the needs and rights of older persons and foster more inclusive, equitable, resilient and age-friendly societies¹." Due largely to the presence of underlying health conditions, death from the virus was significantly higher in older populations, with mortality in those aged 80 or over at five times the global average.⁵ More recent global case data⁶ indicate that older persons comprised only 14 per cent of positive cases worldwide but 80 per cent of COVID-19-related deaths. Multiple progress reports, guidance papers, policy papers and action plans at regional and global levels now identify older persons as a group at high-risk for COVID-19-related morbidity and mortality,^{5, 7-9} and this underlines their prioritization for vaccination efforts.¹⁰ Figure 1 highlights the main impacts of COVID-19 on older persons.





Figure 1: COVID-19 impact on older persons

Life and death

Fatality rates are five times higher than global average. An estimated 66 per cent of people aged 70 or over have at least one underlying health.

Economic well-being

The pandemic may significantly lower older persons' incomes and living standards. Already, less than 20 per cent of older persons of retirement age receiving a pension.

Responders

Older persons are not just victims. They are also responding. They are health workers, careers, and among many essential service providers.

Vulnerability

Essential care that older persons often rely on is under pressure. Almost half of COVID-9 deaths in Europe occurred in long term care settings. Older women often provide care for older relatives increasing their risk to infection.

Mental health

Physical distancing can take a heavy toll on our mental health. Living alone and being more digitally included than others, the risks are higher for older persons.

Abuse and neglect

In 2017, 1 in 6 older persons were subjected to abuse. With lockdowns and reduced care, violence against older persons is on the rise.

Source: United Nations. (2020). *The Impact of COVID-19 on Older Persons*. <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/papers/27082245/7</u>

COVID-19

Pandemic

Despite heightened morbidity and mortality risks from COVID-19, concerns have been raised that protective public health measures implemented to slow the spread of the virus are also likely to introduce or exacerbate health, social and economic issues for older populations.¹¹ Mandatory shielding, stay-at-home mandates and quarantines exacerbated issues of isolation and loneliness; the need for countries to manage the immediate morbidity and mortality risks of the virus saw a reduction in access to national health and social services for issues unrelated to COVID-19; and reports of abuse and neglect of older persons increased.^{5, 12, 13} Public health movement restriction orders also had a direct effect on common non-communicable disease risk factors – contributing to lowered income, decreased levels of physical activity, dietary changes and increased alcohol consumption – coupled with decreased or no access to health care or routine health maintenance visits. Consequently, assessing the health, social and economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on older adults is a fundamental step enabling government and non-government bodies to tailor future recovery responses to the crisis and to ensure that older persons are not left behind in this effort.

COVID-19 threatens not only the physical and mental health of older persons, but also their economic well-being, safety and human rights The United Nations identifies that, while older adult employment has risen 10 per cent over the past 30 years, it is largely due to the lack of available pensions and social protections, and COVID-19 employment disruptions will likely disproportionately affect these older, vulnerable workers.¹⁴ Data from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) highlighted both the variation in rates of COVID-19-related unemployment between countries (from 5 per cent in





Netherlands to 39 per cent in France).¹⁵ It also highlighted that the burden of job loss was clearly borne by the most vulnerable older workers, who tended to be:

- Women (with loss more likely the older the women)
- Non-tertiary educated
- On a low-income
- Migrant older workers

In addition to job insecurity, the global shift to online social engagement during COVID-19 social restrictions raises the financial and psychological vulnerability of older persons to online fraud.¹⁶ In a context requiring confidence with digital transactions, older persons who may be less familiar with such processes are at increased risk either from those trying to help them or from online scammers.¹⁷

Gaining a comprehensive understanding of the health, social and economic impacts of COVID-19 on older persons is difficult given the lack of age-disaggregated data and analysis globally, an issue that pre-dates the pandemic and reflects the invisibility of this population to policymakers. From the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, international efforts have been made to establish data collection, analysis and presentation platforms with which individuals, policymakers and health professionals can monitor the trends in pandemic progress across countries. Some of these include:

- <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u>
- <u>https://ourworldindata.org/coronavirus</u>
- <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/data</u>

Despite best-efforts, the ability to explore the impact of COVID-19 on older persons is undermined by a comprehensive lack of age-disaggregated data worldwide. Building on this issue, HelpAge International¹⁸ recently identified that, while the pandemic has disproportionately affected older persons, there are multiple factors undermining understanding of the degree of impact, range of disruption or their needs, including:

- A lack of age-disaggregated data undermines the ability to monitor and report on national, regional or global trends for older persons.
- Data are not collected on any of the indirect effects of COVID-19 that impact older persons the most (including the loss of access to social and health services).
- The pandemic exacerbates an existing lack of quality data on the lives of older persons.
- Existing data often used to highlight issues with older persons (such as household survey data) neglect the broad array of living arrangements they have and may underestimate poverty in this population.

Governments worldwide identified older persons as a critical at-risk population for whom pandemic responses are specifically targeted to support, yet these same governments often denied older persons any voice in the design of these response measures or a guiding role in their delivery. A recent content analysis of policy documents related to the national and international COVID-19 pandemic response¹⁹ highlights both the inherent ageism in depictions of older persons and their establishment as victims of a pandemic rather than independent and autonomous decision makers. While some policy documents highlighted older persons as core agents of change and autonomy (business owners and family leaders) many reflected inadvertently ageist attitudes that serve to 'other' older persons, either with *positive* language (as paid and unpaid care workers) or *negative* language (for instance, as vulnerable, frail, health service users). The lack of voice experienced by older persons during the global response to the COVID-19 pandemic is best summed up by Rose Kornfeld-Matte,²⁰ (see quote in blue box), who is the Independent Expert on the enjoyment of all human rights by older persons (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights).





Moreover, OHCHR noted that all of the COVID-19 related human rights impacts reflected deficiencies in the protection provided to older persons in the enjoyment of their human rights, such as discrimination based on old age, lack of social protection and access to health services, lack of autonomy, participation in decision-making and the risk of violence, neglect and abuse.¹⁸⁹

"Older persons have become highly visible in the COVID 19 outbreak but their voices, opinions and concerns have not been heard. Instead, the deep-rooted ageism in our societies has become even more apparent. We have seen this in some cruel and dehumanizing language on social media and in the exclusive emphasis on older persons' vulnerability ignoring their autonomy."

Rose Kornfeld-Matte, 2020

While the pandemic presents all countries with unique challenges, it also provides opportunities for countries to redesign health and social care systems for older persons and ensure that their human rights are respected. The calls to 'build back better'²¹ provide a logical link to the upcoming 20 year global review (in 2023) of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing (MIPAA). The three MIPAA priority directions align well with areas needed to build systems back better post-COVID-19: 1) Older persons and development; 2) Advancing health and well-being into old age; and 3) Ensuring enabling and supportive environments. This report summarizes current evidence about the direct impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific, and the downstream individual and societal consequences – covering economic, health and social impacts – which align well with the three MIPAA priority directions.

A focus on Asia and the Pacific is needed to understand the health, social and economic impacts of COVID-19 on older populations in the most populous region of the world, which is culturally diverse and the global engine of economic growth and innovation. The diversity of sociocultural heritage, health-care systems, and available resources have implications for the immediate and longer-term direct and indirect impacts on older persons residing in Asia and the Pacific. At the same time, the entire population of the region is affected by short- and long-term impacts of COVID-19 on older persons.





2. COVID-19 and older persons: The Asia-Pacific context

Asia and the Pacific is home to the largest number of older persons worldwide and population ageing is very rapid compared to other regions. It is also the global engine of economic growth and innovation. However, there is variation between countries in population health, geography, economic factors and access to fundamental COVID-19 support mechanisms, such as social protection and employment, which affects the situation of older persons.

Key to quantifying the potential impact of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific is understanding the significant economic, social, political and demographic variation that exists between countries. The region represents 58 countries and territories^{*} and is home to 4.7 billion people (60 per cent of the global population).²² Over the past few decades, it has experienced the fastest economic growth in the world, significant population expansion and large gains in life expectancy. Yet, this is coupled with recent reductions in fertility, and consistently expanding economic inequality.²³

Further variation in government action, social and health system readiness, and public willingness to facilitate pandemic response orders should be expected based on country-specific experiences of prior pandemics (such as SARS-CoV; MERS-CoV), principally in Asia.²⁴ Regarding the COVID-19 response and potential impact in this region, Fitzgerald and Wong²⁵ helpfully highlight this as follows:

"The Asia Pacific region contains a number of first world countries as well as a range of populous and crowded countries, some with prosperous economies, and other low-middle income [LMIC] countries that have tremendous economic challenges and limited health care resources for maintaining everyday wellbeing. The COVID-19 pandemic has unmasked the impact of the health resource inequities and lack of preparedness to upscale a co-ordinated response in many countries in the region."

(Fitzgerald & Wong, 2020; p. 75)

Any economic impact of COVID-19 on older populations across Asia and the Pacific will also be compounded by variation in the availability of financial support mechanisms, such as jobs and pensions. The recent United Nations report *The Protection We Want*²⁶ contextualized the landscape of social protection for older persons in the region, noting that:

• Pensions (largely a mix of contributary and non-contributary) are the most widespread social

Pacific: American Samoa; Australia; the Cook Islands; Fiji; French Polynesia; Guam; Kiribati; the Marshall Islands; Micronesia (Federated States of); Nauru; New Caledonia; New Zealand; Niue; the Northern Mariana Islands; Palau; Papua New Guinea; Samoa; the Solomon Islands; Tonga; Tuvalu; Vanuatu.



^{*} The Asia-Pacific (ESCAP) region is divided into five subregions:

East and North-East Asia (ENEA): China; Democratic People's Republic of Korea; Hong Kong, China; Japan; Macao, China; Mongolia; Republic of Korea.

South-East Asia (SEA): Brunei Darussalam; Cambodia, Indonesia; Lao People's Democratic Republic; Malaysia; Myanmar; the Philippines; Singapore; Thailand; Timor-Leste; Viet Nam.

South and South-West Asia (SSWA): Afghanistan; Bangladesh; Bhutan; India; the Islamic Republic of Iran; the Maldives; Nepal; Pakistan; Sri Lanka; Turkey.

North and Central Asia (NCA): Armenia; Azerbaijan; Georgia; Kazakhstan; Kyrgyzstan; the Russian Federation; Tajikistan; Turkmenistan; Uzbekistan.



protection system used to support older persons.

- However, pensions are not yet universal and significant variation in coverage exists; many older persons lack recourse to pensions and rely on their families for support."
- Women are more likely to receive non-contributory pensions with lower benefits.

This landscape of patchy social protection, combined with high rates of informal employment,²⁷ results in many older persons in Asia and the Pacific (primarily women) undertaking informal employment, often in roles that are low-paid, hazardous and insecure.²⁸ Such a precarious economic position for older persons (particularly women) heightens the potential health, social and economic impact of a pandemic.

The distinction between countries in their pre-pandemic readiness for vaccination decision-making, prioritization and programme implementation will likely have influenced the health, social and economic impact of COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific. The World Health Organization's (WHO) roadmap for vaccine prioritization²⁹ identifies older persons as a priority 1 group (second only to frontline health- care workers). However, the effectiveness of any vaccination plan relies on preparedness, particularly having an established national technical advisory group on immunization and a set of fundamental documents guiding decision-making for key at-risk groups such as older persons (including an immunization plan and a healthy ageing strategy).³⁰

A study comparing the vaccination preparedness of 34 countries around the world pre-COVID-19,³⁰ found four distinct archetypes and that countries in Asia and the Pacific sat within three of these:

- *Health security-focus:* Countries under this archetype (Australia; China; Hong Kong, China; Japan; New Zealand; Taiwan Province of China and Turkey) had strong vaccination decision-making processes and guiding documentation for at-risk groups in place, already prioritized older adult vaccinations and pursued a 'population health' imperative via centralized mass-vaccination processes. They utilized government population registrations, public health systems and health communication approaches honed from previous national outbreaks or disasters.
- *Evolving adult-focus:* Countries under this archetype (Malaysia and the Republic of Korea) had weaker decision-making processes in place, including a lack of key guiding documents, and lacked a focus on older adult vaccination. While some evidence of early adoption of adult vaccinations existed in some countries, the financing of vaccinations varied, with some efforts for at-risk groups not publicly funded.
- *Child-focused and cost-sensitive:* Countries under this archetype (India, the Philippines and the Russian Federation) lacked a decision-making focus on older persons. Further, they did not prioritize adult immunization, with no extant adult working groups for existing vaccines, no policies on adult vaccination and limited advocacy for adult immunization efforts. Given limitations on resources, government investment focused on child health and related vaccination efforts.

While pre-existing immunization approaches may have differed across countries in the Asia-Pacific region, reports from the WHO *Asia Pacific Observatory on Health Systems and Policies* on six countries during the COVID-19 pandemic showed that older persons were largely prioritized in vaccine roll-outs across the region, but this varied by country. For example, governments in Indonesia,³¹ Singapore³² and Thailand³³ prioritized vaccination for older persons alongside or directly after critical health-care workers, while vaccinations for older persons in other countries were varied or staggered. For example, in the Republic of Korea, patients were first prioritized alongside critical health-care staff for vaccinations, with older persons prioritized next. In New Zealand,³⁴ subcohorts of older persons were sequentially prioritized based on identified vulnerability. Workers in government-managed COVID-19 isolation facilities (and their families) were prioritized first, followed jointly by frontline health-care workers, anyone aged 65 or older with a disability or chronic health condition, and older persons who specifically identified as Māori – indigenous people – or of Pacific Island





descent. This ethnic subcohort prioritization reflected historic health inequity in New Zealand raising vulnerability of these groups to COVID-19 mortality. The general population of persons aged 65 or older were then included in the third priority group.

Age-disaggregated vaccination data are not available for each country, making it impossible to identify the success of vaccination roll-out efforts for older persons in Asia and the Pacific. However, it is possible to use data from the *WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard*³⁵ to identify the progression of population-level vaccination programmes (partial and full vaccination) across countries that – if following the WHO guidelines – should be prioritizing older persons. Figure 2 displays the number of people (per 100) in each country with (a) 1 or more vaccine doses, and (b) full vaccination.

Figure 2: Vaccination rates for countries in the Asia-Pacific region per 100 people, November 2021



Source: WHO (2021). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available at: https://covid19.who.int/





There are differences in the rates of vaccinations across the region. Vaccination programme success (that is proximity to 100 fully vaccinated people per 100 people) appears more likely in countries identified as having pre-pandemic vaccination plans *Health security*-focus or *Evolving adult-focus*. or for small nations.³⁰ However, regardless of country size, 21 countries in the region have a rate of 1 or more vaccination doses that falls below 50 per 100 people, at an average across these countries of only 33 per 100. Further, 27 countries in the region have a fully vaccinated population rate that is below 50 per 100, with an average rate across these countries of 27 per 100. It is important to point out that the data on vaccination rates do not provide information on vaccine efficacy.

Regardless of level of vaccination success across the Asia-Pacific region, one theme has become clear regarding programme roll-outs: they lack older adult voices. Health and social policies implemented to safeguard older persons and the general population have often been developed with no input from older persons themselves, and their implementation has caused significant issues and confusion.

In the first year of the pandemic, HelpAge International³⁶ surveyed organizations working with older persons at the global, regional, national and community levels to ascertain the initial impact of the pandemic. One of the core themes, particularly from those in Asia and the Pacific, was that older persons had been given no voice in any of the decisions being made, nor in the implementation of policies significantly affecting their daily lives. This resulted in difficulties and confusion, both from older persons themselves and from those tasked with interpreting and implementing these policies across a broad and diverse set of communities. The quotes from older participants (in the blue box below) highlight this point.

"It does not seem that current government policies take into account the voice of the elderly." The Russian Federation (HelpAge International, 2021; p. 7)

"There are various levels of committees that are being initiated by government from grassroot to top-level but there are no older people representatives on them."

India (HelpAge International, 2021; p. 7)

"Despite the issuance of guidelines allowing older persons to go out if deemed 'indispensable', many older persons are still complaining that they have been barred from getting out to do economic activities or buy essential needs. This is because many implementers at the local level have a different interpretation of what is 'indispensable'."

The Philippines (HelpAge International, 2021; p. 8)

"The authorities showed their unwillingness to cooperate with NGOs and the elderly." The Russian Federation (HelpAge International, 2021; p. 9)

During the initial stages of the 2020 pandemic, HelpAge International³⁷ identified the lack of data on the pandemic experience of older persons, particularly their acute and ongoing requirements. They also undertook a rapid needs assessment of older persons in seven countries in Asia and the Pacific, identifying critical issues concerning their health and disability needs, food and livelihood requirements, and their well-being. Box 1 (on the following page) provides an overview of their key findings. Overall, by the middle of 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and associated government responses (including social isolation measures) had already had significant health, social and economic impacts on older persons in Asia and





the Pacific. These ranged from loss of income, a concern over their ability to secure sufficient food, to a reduction in medical care and increased worry over greater social isolation.

Ultimately, Asia and the Pacific is a region with substantial variation in preparedness for the COVID-19 pandemic. Vaccination efforts reflect pre-existing differences between countries in population levels, economic wealth and health system readiness, resulting in some countries nearing 100 per cent vaccination, while others struggle to achieve 30 per cent. Regardless, the single factor connecting all countries in the region is that older persons have been significantly materially, emotionally, economically and social affected by this pandemic yet have been denied a voice in the collective response.





Box 1: COVID-19 rapid needs assessment of older persons

In July 2020, a rapid needs assessment of older persons in Asia and the Pacific³⁷ was undertaken by a Global Humanitarian Team led by HelpAge International (the team consisted of the following organization: HelpAge, HelpAge Asia-Pacific Regional Office, HelpAge country offices in Bangladesh, Myanmar and Pakistan, and network members HelpAge Cambodia, GRAVIS in India, Coalition of the Services of the Elderly in the Philippines and HelpAge Sri Lanka). This team explored the health, social and economic needs of older persons in seven countries in the region (Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Myanmar, Pakistan, the Philippines and Sri Lanka). The goal was to identify specific needs throughout the region and offer recommendations for policy developers and decision makers to tailor responses to the pandemic that would account for the immediate needs of older persons.

Health and disability

- 77% Had some form of disability (for example, mobility, vision, and cognition difficulties).
- 67% Had one or more health conditions (for example, joint pain, hypertension and gastro-intestinal problems).
- 56% Of those with regular health-care needs felt health service access was affected by COVID-19.
- 46% Said their access to medicine had been reduced during the COVID-19 pandemic

Food and livelihood

- 81% Who worked said their income was affected by COVID-19.
- 77% Stated that their immediate priorities were (1) food, (2) income and (3) health and well-being.
- 61% Either ate less or ate poorer quality food.
- 44% Were regularly employed, ran their own business or agricultural activity, or were petty traders.
- 41% Had less than two weeks' supply of food at home.

Well-being

- 97% Lost income and experienced isolation due to social or government-imposed restrictions impeding their movement.
- 85% Felt depressed due to loss of income, insecurity and isolation.

Both older men and women reported that they felt the risk of abuse (verbal, financial, emotional, physical, psychological and sexual) had increased as a result of COVID-19.

Case study: India

"I was denied the curfew pass as I was 'disabled' and was asked to call 'relatives' to seek help during the lockdown."

Case study: Viet Nam

"I decided to give up applying for the COVID-19 support package. By the time I manage to prove myself eligible, it would probably have passed the deadline."

Case study: Pakistan

"When I stopped working, I had nothing saved... I feel depressed to see my wife having to work at this age and that my son lost his job."





3. Health impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific

While death has been a too frequent outcome for many, the health impacts of COVID-19 in countries across Asia and the Pacific are clearly patterned by underlying factors including older age. Differential health impacts reflect variation in critical factors, such as individual health and wealth, population age structures and government responses to the pandemic. Perhaps most importantly, there is a clear gender distinction in COVID-19 impacts, with more older men reporting physical health impacts and more older women reporting mental health impacts.

The most immediate health consequence of COVID-19 for older persons in Asia and the Pacific was mortality. Indications from China during the initial stages of the pandemic were that older persons were a small proportion of COVID-19 cases but at heightened risk for death from the virus. However, the proportion of COVID-19-related deaths in older populations was clearly different across countries, likely reflecting factors such as economic and health resource access.

By mid-February 2020, while the majority of COVID-19 cases in China occurred in those aged under 70, those aged 80 years of older had a case fatality rate of 22 per cent and accounted for 15 per cent of deaths.^{36,39} Those aged 60 or older and those with key underlying health issues, such heart and cardiorespiratory disease (increasingly overlapping groups with age), were identified as at high risk of virus-related morbidity and mortality.³⁹ As the months progressed, it became more apparent that those aged 60 or older were significantly more susceptible to COVID-19 infection,⁴⁰ particularly those older adults with the lowest socioeconomic status⁴¹ and through household transmission.⁴² At least one study identified an 11.6 per cent increase in infection risk with every 10-year increase in age.⁴³

Research across Asia and the Pacific during the early pandemic stages supported heightened mortality risk for older populations seen at the outset of the outbreak. Country-based demographic breakdowns of COVID-19 cases in the first COVID-19 wave showed that those aged 60 or older constituted a broad range of those dying from COVID-19; 16 per cent of deaths in Indonesia,⁴⁴ 47 per cent of deaths in India,⁴⁵ 59 per cent of deaths in Nepal,⁴⁶ and 92 per cent in the Republic of Korea⁴⁷ were in adults aged 60 or older, while 77 per cent of deaths in China by April 2020 were in those aged 65 or older.⁴⁸ Modelling of the COVID-19 mortality rates in India showed that mortality was significantly more likely in areas with higher population proportions of older persons.⁴⁹

There is some evidence to suggest that government measures implemented to curb both the rate of population infection and the risk of mortality may have reduced both hospitalizations and deaths in older persons. A study in Turkey⁵⁰ compared the clinical records of people aged 60 or older who tested positive for COVID-19 either before or after a government-imposed curfew. They found that the rate of hospitalizations and intubations dropped significantly after curfew, and deaths almost halved.

Comparative data illustrating age-related COVID-19 mortality across age-groups for countries in the Asia-Pacific region either do not currently exist or are extremely difficult to generate. This is for two key reasons:

- First, as previously indicated by HelpAge International,¹⁸ age-disaggregated data have not been a standard component of national COVID-19 record keeping worldwide, nor has a standard for specific age-groupings been identified or utilized. For example, even the WHO country COVID-19 dashboards do not disaggregate cases or deaths by age.
- Second, existing global comparisons providing age-disaggregated death trends (for example, a





recent World Bank Report)⁵¹ exclude countries with less than 2,000 deaths, and many countries in Asia and the Pacific (for example, Australia, Fiji and New Zealand) have been experiencing deaths below this threshold (to date).

Some global comparisons of age-related COVID-19 mortality trends (including some Asian and Pacific countries) do exist and illustrate age-related patterning of COVID-19 mortality. Figure 3 is reprinted from a World Bank report by Demombynes et al⁵¹ and illustrates the share of COVID-19 mortality by age-group in countries around the world with 2,000 or more confirmed deaths.



Figure 3: The age distribution of COVID-19-related deaths and excess deaths in 2020

Image reprinted from Demombynes et al (2021). *COVID-19 Age-Mortality Curves* for 2020 Are Flatter in Developing Countries Using Both Official Death Counts and *Excess Deaths* (p. 7).

Those aged 65 or older constituted the vast majority of recorded COVID-19 deaths in high-income countries (89 per cent). The proportion was lower in upper-middle-income countries (60 per cent) and lower still in lower-middle-income countries (46 per cent). This global pattern was clearly evident for the few Asian and the Pacific countries in this analysis (Bangladesh, India, Indonesia and Turkey).

There are a number of potential reasons for the higher proportion of older person deaths from COVID-19 in higher, as opposed to lower, income countries. However, in an earlier version of her report for the World Bank, Demombynes⁵² suggested the following factors were likely to exacerbate this:





- <u>Living conditions:</u> Older persons in low-and middle-income countries (LMIC) are more likely than their counterparts in high-income countries (HIC) to live in multi-generational residences and less likely to reside in long-term care facilities or be hospitalized alongside populations vulnerable to COVID-19.
- <u>Health risk:</u> Non-communicable diseases that increase the risk of COVID-19 mortality for older persons (such as heart disease or lung disease) are more likely in HICs and more prevalent in older persons in those countries.
- <u>Survivorship</u>: Adults in LMICs with health risks are less likely to live to older adulthood, thus older populations that exist in LMICs are potentially those that are currently healthier and less vulnerable to disease than their HIC counterparts.

Many HICs in Asia and the Pacific have a greater likelihood of residing in long-term care facilities (LTCF). There are significant differences in the proportion of COVID-19 deaths associated with an LTCF in countries across the region, with countries benefiting from prior experience of managing public health epidemics. Yet, in comparison to global trends, the rate of COVID-19-related deaths among LTCF residents in countries in Asia and the Pacific is remarkably low and reflects the broad success of health system prioritization of LTCF residents.

HelpAge International⁵³ identified that within the first year of the pandemic – in countries with ready access to LTCFs – LTCF residents were 60 times more likely to die from COVID-19 than younger adults, and LTCF residents were 13 times more likely to die from COVID-19 than community-dwelling older persons with care needs. Using data from the first six months of the pandemic, it was possible to identify the differences between some countries (including those in Asia and the Pacific) in the percentage of COVID-19-related deaths linked with residents in LTCFs (see figure 4).



Figure 4: Percentage of total confirmed COVID-19-related deaths linked with LTCF, mid-2020

Image reprinted from HelpAge International (2020). *COVID-19, older adults and long-term care in Asia Pacific* (p. 3).

Source: Image created from data downloaded from WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard as of 28 November.

LTCF-related deaths reflected less than 15 per cent of total COVID-19-related deaths in countries such as Japan, the Republic of Korea and Singapore. In contrast, LTCF-linked deaths were a far higher proportion of total country deaths in Pacific countries such as New Zealand (64 per cent) and Australia (75 per cent). These country disparities in LTCF-related deaths have two potential explanations involving both the numerator and the denominator.

• First, a low numerator (number of deaths in LTCFs) reflects the likely success of health system responses in countries such as Japan, the Republic of Korea and Singapore that – having experienced prior pandemics – had management plans, infection control systems and protocols, coordinated





communication networks, and integrated governance frameworks already in place to tackle a new pandemic.^{54, 55} For example, Chow⁵⁶ describes the multiple infection control and management measures implemented in LTCFs in Hong Kong, China during the COVID-19 pandemic, and how they stemmed from expert recommendations after the high LTCF fatality rate during the 2003 SARS epidemic.

• A second explanation is that a low denominator (number of deaths outside LTCFs) potentially reflects the success of public health pandemic response measures at the population level. In 2020, governments in Asia and the Pacific provided some of the world's most successful pandemic mitigation responses, serving not only to reduce the spread of the virus and related deaths,⁵⁷ but also the potential impact on gross domestic product.⁵⁸

While it is clear that the rate of COVID-19-related deaths associated with LTCF residents differs across the region, international comparisons exploring the proportion of deaths *within* LTCF populations indicates that Asia-Pacific countries have witnessed considerably lower deaths than others.

Figure 5, from the International Long Term Care Policy Network,⁵⁹ highlights differences between countries in percentage of COVID-19-related deaths in LTCFs during 2020 (where country data were available).



Figure 5: Share of LTCF residents whose deaths were linked to COVID-19 compared to LTFC population, mid-2020

Image reprinted from Comas-Herrera (2021). *Mortality associated with COVID-19 in care homes: international evidence* (p. 24).

The five Asian and Pacific countries all show less than 1 per cent of deaths within their LTCF populations, indicating that government responses specific to ensuring LTCF safety significantly reduced likely COVID-19 mortality in these countries. This is particularly noteworthy in comparison to countries, such as the United Kingdom, where LTCF resident deaths were considerably higher and efforts to lockdown LTCFs were seen as too late and ineffective.⁶⁰





A recently published study⁶¹ estimated the years of life lost (YLL) attributable COVID-19 in 30 countries that had the highest incidence of COVID-19 by April 2020. Included within this study were data from 7 countries from Asia and the Pacific (Australia, China, India, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation and Turkey).

As indicated in figure 6, analysis shows that countries from Asia and the Pacific had 7 out of the 10 lowest YLLs. The Russian Federation was the region's country with the highest YLL rate for men (89.77) and women (42.13); yet both of these were a fraction of the YLL for the three Western European countries with the worst YLL: Belgium, the United Kingdom and Italy.



Figure 6: Years of Life Lost (YLL) for 30 high-incidence countries worldwide, July 2020

While death from COVID-19 was a reality for some older persons in Asia and the Pacific, the vast majority who contracted the virus lived. However, the experience of COVID-19 infection for many older persons was shaped by the presence of comorbid health conditions that enhanced the severity of the illness and the medical intervention required. Further, the experience of the wider pandemic resulted in significant mental health and emotional consequences for many older persons across the region.

In addition to advanced age, a critical factor linking many of the cases of COVID-19 deaths across the Asia- Pacific region was the presence of key comorbid health conditions.

Those aged 60 or older had significantly higher odds of mortality from COVID-19. This was because the presence of comorbidities significantly increases the severity of COVID-19 cases⁶² and the likelihood of complications or death, particularly in those aged 80 or older.⁶³





Research in China, Indonesia, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Nepal, the Republic of Korea and Turkey explored the prevalence of comorbid health conditions in hospitalized COVID-19 cases (either specific to older persons or at a population level including older persons). Together, their results identify the following comorbidities were not only prevalent among older patients but were also more likely in those requiring longer hospital stays, medical intervention (such as intubation) or who died from COVID-19:

- Cardiovascular disease^{44, 46, 63-67}
- Hypertension^{46, 50, 63, 66, 68}
- Diabetes^{46, 50, 63-66, 68}
- Renal disease^{44, 46, 50, 66}
- Cancer^{46, 50, 64, 65}
- Respiratory disease^{46, 63, 65}
- Cognitive or neurological disorders^{50, 64}
- Malnutrition (including obesity)^{50, 64}
- Liver disease^{46, 67}
- Immunosuppression⁴⁴
- Osteoarthritis⁶⁶

In addition to (or likely because of) having more pre-existing health conditions, older persons in Asia and the Pacific who contracted COVID-19 and were admitted to hospitals, were far more likely than younger patients to have:

- Severe or critical COVID-19 characteristics^{62.63}
- Much higher odds of medical intervention (such as intubation)^{68, 69}
- Significantly longer hospitalization,⁶⁴ and greater length of recovery from the virus⁷⁰

Despite being at significant risk from COVID-19-related morbidity and mortality, non-COVID-19 medical and health services for older persons were radically undermined by health-care system re-prioritization in response to the pandemic. Between June and August 2020, WHO conducted a rapid assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on mental, neurological and substance treatment services in member States.⁷¹ Data from 130 countries identified that 70 per cent of these treatment services for older persons had either been partially (56 per cent) or completely (14 per cent) disrupted due to COVID-19.

Further research exploring older persons' health service utilization in the Republic of Korea and Turkey found that, during the COVID-19 pandemic, older persons were significantly more likely to:

- Postpone hospital treatment⁷²
- Avoid using health-care services⁷³
- Avoid presenting to trauma services⁷⁴
- Stop attending outpatient clinics⁷⁵

For many older persons in the region, the pandemic and related government interventions resulted in significant changes in their lifestyle, and their ability to maintain their physical and mental health. Fears of COVID-19-related infection and death, potentially reinforced by government quarantine, social distancing orders and online misinformation, have heightened feelings of depression, anxiety and distress across the region.⁷⁶

Studies on the lives of older persons during the pandemic and specifically during lockdown conditions in Australia; Bangladesh; Hong Kong, China; Japan and Turkey provide insight into the shared reality of COVID-19's health impacts on this cohort, regardless of country. Together, the results of these studies show that key





health and lifestyle factors were disrupted by COVID-19 and that many older persons in Asia and the Pacific experienced:

- Decreased physical activity⁷⁷⁻⁸³
- Reduced or disrupted food intake^{78, 81, 83, 84}
- Changes in smoking, including some increasing use^{82, 85, 86} and some decreasing use^{81, 82, 85}
- Reduced alcohol use^{81, 82, 87}
- Weight gain or loss^{77, 78}
- Disrupted sleep^{82, 88, 89}

Studies across the region explored the mental health impacts of COVID-19. Specifically, studies in Bangladesh, China, India, Japan, Malaysia, Nepal and Turkey explored older persons' levels of psychological distress in COVID-19 contexts (including population lockdowns). They found that under the COVID-19 pandemic, older persons experienced:

- Heightened feelings of depression^{67, 72, 78, 90-95}
- Greater levels of anxiety in general^{67, 78, 96}
- Heightened anxiety about COVID-19⁹⁷⁻¹⁰¹ or death¹⁰²
- More apathy⁹¹
- Poorer quality of life⁷⁸

Further, these same studies collectively emphasized that older persons most at risk of heightened depression, increased anxiety or poorer quality of life (or in some cases all three) were more likely to be:

- Aged 75 or older^{78, 91, 99}
- Widowed, single or living alone^{90, 102, 103}
- Those with poorer education^{78, 90, 93}
- Caregivers⁹²
- Those with lower socioeconomic status⁹⁰
- Those with low food security⁹³

Statistics highlighting the morbidity and mortality outcomes of older persons in Asia-Pacific countries do not tell the entire story of the health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. There is growing evidence that older persons were – as a cohort – more resilient to the mental health impact of the pandemic than younger populations throughout the region. Further, there are numerous indications of the factors that may have mitigated the mental health impact for older persons.

Despite indications of significant health impacts for older persons from the COVID-19 pandemic, there are also indications that older persons were not so severely affected as other cohorts.

Multiple general population studies from Australia; China; Hong Kong, China; the Islamic Republic of Iran; Japan; New Zealand and Pakistan found that, in comparison to younger cohorts, older persons during the COVID-19 pandemic:

- Were less distressed^{82, 105-109}
- Were less depressed^{82, 94, 106, 110, 111}
- Were less anxious^{82, 106, 111, 112}
- Were less suicidal¹⁰⁷
- Had better well-being¹¹³
- Had greater intention to get vaccinated¹¹⁴





Research throughout Asia and the Pacific highlight potential protective factors that mitigated the physical and mental health impacts of COVID-19 for older persons. The following studies have identified factors at the individual and country level that protected older persons from the mental health impacts:

- Being married or living with others^{89, 90, 102, 103; 115}
- Having higher education levels^{90, 116}
- Having better socioeconomic status⁹⁰
- Having good food security⁹³
- Being in better health⁹⁰
- Living in a rural area¹¹⁵
- Having a strong focus on self-care¹¹⁷
- Having higher trust in one's government's honesty¹¹⁶
- Believing the general public has responded appropriately¹¹⁶
- Believing one's government pandemic response is effective¹¹⁶
- Living in a country with stricter policy measures¹¹⁶
- Having fewer COVID-19 deaths in one's country¹¹⁶

Two studies in the region exploring the population effects of the pandemic found that older persons reported anxiety more frequently than younger adults. Specifically, one community-based study¹⁰³ in Viet Nam found that adults aged 60 or older were almost 20 times more likely to report anxiety than those aged 18–38. The second study,¹⁰⁴ a hospital-based survey in Nepal, found that older persons were almost 3 times as likely to indicate anxiety than those aged 18–24. However, the majority of studies showed that older persons seem to experience fewer mental health impacts than younger persons.

COVID-19 affected older men and women in Asia and the Pacific differently. These gendered outcomes are a central component to the regional story of this pandemic. Broadly speaking, older men tended to bear the physical health burden of COVID-19, while women tended to bear its mental health burden. Specifically, older men were more likely to:

- Catch COVID-19^{45-48, 64, 68, 69, 118, 119}
- Have severe COVID-19 cases and/or require medical intervention^{46, 47, 50, 62, 64, 69, 120}
- Die from COVID-19^{44-48, 50, 62, 118, 121}

In contrast, while older women in Asia and the Pacific had lower odds of COVID-19 morbidity or mortality, evidence shows that they were more likely than older men to have experienced:

- Psychological distress, depression and/or anxiety^{78, 82, 89, 103, 105, 113, 116, 122-125}
- Fear of COVID-19^{97-100, 126} or of vaccine side-effects¹²⁷
- Declining physical activity and fitness^{79, 80, 128}
- Insomnia^{89, 129}
- Abuse¹³⁰
- Poorer quality of life¹³¹

During the COVID-19 pandemic, older women in Asia and the Pacific were generally less likely than men to:

- Use health-care services^{73, 75, 132}
- Be willing or intending to get vaccinated^{114, 133}
- Have access to (and implement) preventive health measures⁸¹





4. Social impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific

Responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in countries across the Asia- Pacific region varied significantly based on in-country preparedness, economic resources, population size and composition, and political will. However, evidence indicates a shared social impact of the pandemic for older persons across the region and identifies key factors mitigating these social impacts, facilitating resilience and enhancing preventive health behaviours in this population.

Older persons were identified internationally as at-risk of COVID-19 morbidity and mortality, leading many governments to institute age-specific social restrictions intended to protect older persons from harm. These included mandates for individual behaviour change (such as social distancing and hand washing), broader community-level change (including limitations on social interactions) and complete population lockdowns. Such measures were noted to have the potential for either initiating or enhancing social isolation in older persons.⁵

HelpAge International¹³⁴ warned against assumptions that COVID-19 would not result in significant social isolation for many older persons in the Asia-Pacific region for multiple reasons (see also the blue box below):

"The pandemic made me feel a sense of emptiness. I lost my joy and passion for life. I have always been a person that loves learning new things, socializing and exploring. Now, I feel that there is nothing for me to live for. Young adults are struggling to adopt to the 'new' normal. I do not even have that option. I have to stay home and not get sick."

Turkey (Ates, 2020; p. 307)

"I stay at home. I haven't been to any social activities such as wedding ceremonies, housewarming gatherings or any other social gathering. I've stopped going out completely."

Thailand (HelpAge International, 2021; p 5)

- First, they highlighted that many older persons were already in precarious social and economic situations (including social isolation), and COVID-19 was likely to simply increase these pre-existing challenges. In this regard, the solutions to pandemic challenges being considered by multiple governments in the region are actually solutions needed to resolve issues faced by older persons regardless of the pandemic.
- Second, they highlighted that many concerns over social isolation reflect Western assumptions that older persons live separately to the traditional family structure (in their own home or LTCFs), which in Asia and the Pacific are often incorrect. In many Asia-Pacific countries (including China, Indonesia and the Philippines) less than 1 per cent of older persons reside in LTCFs. Instead, many older persons in the region reside in multi-generational homes, thus mitigating issues with social isolation to a great extent (though simultaneously increasing potential issues related to social distancing).
- Third, they noted that there are no age-disaggregated data with which to accurately gauge and monitor the social impact of COVID-19 on older persons and their social connections.¹⁸ In this





respect, while COVID-19 was likely to significantly increase challenges for older persons throughout the region, government and media rhetoric largely ignored the existing plight of many older persons pre-pandemic. They also failed to establish comprehensive systems for measuring and monitoring the health and social impacts that they clearly feared would befall older persons.

The *Impact of COVID-19 on Older Persons in Thailand* survey, conducted in July 2020,¹³⁵ provided some direct results on the economic realities of 1,230 adults aged 60 or older living in urban and rural locations in all provinces across Thailand. A state of emergency was declared on 26 March 2020, with curfews and movement restriction orders for the following months. Figure 7 shows responses to the question, "Was any of the following daily life routines [sic] affected by COVID-19?", a slightly higher percentage of older men than older women reported impacts on meeting friends, meeting family/relatives and running errands. This could have contributed to gender differences in feelings of social isolation as a result of the public health orders.



Figure 7: Daily life routines affected by COVID-19 for older men and women in Thailand, July 2020, percentage

Source: Pothisiri W, Buathong T, & B., B. (2021). The Impact of COVID 19 on Older Persons in Thailand: Evidence from the Survey. Bangkok, UNFPA.

Initial social lockdown measures implemented to restrict the spread of COVID-19 were clearly understood as measures to reduce the risk of older persons catching the virus. However, acceptance of and adherence to these restrictions varied across the region, likely reflecting differences in population experiences of prior pandemics and contagion control measures. The onset of governmentmandated social isolation measures in countries across the Asia-Pacific region revealed a range of levels of adherence from older persons. Population surveys (including older adults) in Bangladesh; Brunei Darussalam; Cambodia; China; Hong Kong, China; India; Indonesia; the Islamic Republic of Iran, Japan; Macau, China; Malaysia; Myanmar; the Philippines; the Republic of Korea, Singapore; Taiwan Province of





China; Thailand; and Viet Nam concerning the implementation of health prevention measures found that the vast majority of older adults:

- Had a good understanding of the virus, including its symptoms and ways to prevent infection^{119, 136-138}
- Wore masks when outdoors^{77, 119, 136-140}
- Undertook other preventive health behaviours, such as hand washing and social distancing^{77, 119, 137, 138, 140}

Further, factors found to support better personal health prevention efforts included:

- Being a woman^{77, 97, 137, 141-144}
- Having higher education levels and/or knowledge of COVID-19^{97, 136, 142-144}
- Having good family or social support^{139, 143}
- Having better well-being¹³⁷
- Being employed,¹⁴¹ particularly in jobs with high interaction levels with others¹³⁷
- Living in an urban rather than rural location^{97, 142}
- Having a smartphone⁷⁷
- Being younger than 50,^{136, 141, 144} though some studies indicate that good knowledge and health practice peak around mid-life^{97, 142} or in those aged 50 or older^{137, 143}

Population-level studies in East and South-East Asia also highlight the difference in impacts pandemic responses have had on younger and older populations, and that older persons were more likely to adapt to the new COVID-19 context. They found that in comparison to younger adults, older persons were:

- More likely to comply with government COVID-19 health and safety mandates¹³⁷
- More likely to have changed travel plans¹⁴⁵
- More likely to avoid crowded or close contact spaces¹⁴⁶
- More comfortable wearing a mask¹⁰⁰ and more likely to undertake preventive health behaviours¹⁴⁶
- Less likely to change their eating habits¹⁰⁰
- Less affected by the lockdown confinement¹⁰⁰

However, this high level of adaptation and compliance may reflect prior experience of some countries with pandemic responses, or simply differences between countries and cohorts. Community surveys in China and Turkey found that many older persons:

- Struggled with key government measures such as obeying curfews (85 per cent), wearing a mask (82 per cent) and staying socially isolated from friends and family (67 per cent)¹²⁶
- Were less likely than younger adults to perform advanced or even basic health protective measures¹⁴⁷

Some older persons were not in a position to adhere to medical or public health mandates because they were unable to access the components necessary. A fundamental requirement for older persons to adhere to government or public health mandates (for example, mask wearing and hand washing) was the provision of materials to enable them to do so. Nevertheless, research from HelpAge International³⁶ found that some older persons had limited or no access to the materials required, as indicated in the blue box below.





"While the [government] and World Health Organization asked the entire populace to use alcohol as a disinfectant, masks for protection and soap for hygiene, older women and men in indigenous population communities do not have the opportunity to access any of these."

The Philippines (HelpAge International, 2021; p 11)

Evidence suggests that both the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated government social isolation measures across countries in the Asia-Pacific region resulted in the experience of social isolation and loneliness for many older persons. However, the degree of social isolation and loneliness varied depending on the country under study.

Multiple studies conducted in countries throughout Asia and the Pacific found that subjective feelings of loneliness in older persons did increase with the onset of the virus and government-mandated social isolation orders. The previously mentioned survey of community-dwelling Japanese adults aged 85 or older⁷⁷ found that, as a result of strong adherence to social isolation measures, their loneliness increased. Specifically, approximately half reduced their frequency of going outside, 36 per cent reported a drop in the number of people they talked to and 33 per cent a drop in the amount of time spent talking to others. The survey of community-dwelling older persons from Turkey¹⁴⁸ also found that government-imposed curfews for older persons resulted in 14 per cent of them worrying more about their social life and their families. Moreover, those who were most socially isolated experienced greater levels of anxiety as a result.

Further research confirmed that, while older persons in Asia and the Pacific may have experienced loneliness and social isolation prior to the pandemic, the onset of COVID-19 and government social isolation measures clearly increased feelings of:

- Moderate and severe loneliness¹⁴⁹
- Social frailty¹⁵⁰

The World Bank *COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey* in Armenia¹⁵¹ included 853 adults aged 60 or older collected between July and December 2020. A majority of older Armenian men and women reported no change family environment as a result of the public health orders, but 26 per cent of older women and 28 per cent of older men did report worsening of the family environment (see figure 8).





Figure 8: Indication of change in family environment in Armenia during the COVID-19 pandemic, July – December 2020



Source: World Bank (2021) COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey in Armenia.

Related to this, 43 per cent of older Armenian women and 41 per cent of older men reported that life in general had worsened as a result of COVID-19 restrictions (see figure 9). As with impacts on the family environment, a sizeable portion of the older adult population reported no significant change.





Source: World Bank (2021) COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey in Armenia.

Evidence suggests that the impact of social isolation on older persons in the Asia-Pacific region was worse for some than for others. Fundamental to the negative impact of social isolation was the loss of social support, particularly for those living alone. Research on the experience of social isolation and





loneliness in countries such as Bangladesh; Hong Kong, China; Japan and New Zealand during the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted that the loss of fundamental social supports due to social isolation was a fundamental driver of poor outcomes for some older persons.

A small study of adults aged 65 or older with hearing loss in New Zealand¹⁵² found that more than 25 per cent experienced a loss of fundamental social support as a result of lockdowns. The importance of such social support for some older persons was highlighted in further research on older persons in Japan.¹⁵³ In comparison to socially active older persons, older Japanese people who were already socially isolated prior to the pandemic saw successive reductions in physical activity across each COVID-19 lockdown, resulting in an increase in subsequent frailty among these older persons.

The importance of social support for older persons during the pandemic, especially the availability of support in the home, was highlighted by research showing poorer outcomes for those older persons living by themselves. In a study of older persons in Hong Kong, China,⁸⁹ the strongest predictors of loneliness over the course of the pandemic were (a) being female, (b) living alone, and (c) having five or more chronic conditions. Further, a survey of over 1,000 community-dwelling adults aged 60 or older in Bangladesh (n=1,032) found that those who lived alone, were socially isolated from others, had less frequent communication with others, perceived themselves to be lonely during the pandemic and were much more likely to experience depressive symptoms.¹⁵⁴

Differences in levels of social support were also evident between older persons and younger adults, and potentially explain differences in mental health outcomes. For example, a population survey of over 23,000 community residents in China aged 18—85¹⁵⁵ explored the role of social support in driving resilience to the mental health toll of COVID-19. They found that older persons' social support contrasted with that of younger adults because it was characterized primarily by proximal contacts (immediate family and friends). However, older persons reported better levels of social support than younger adults, and such support offered resilience to mental health impacts. The finding that older persons experienced less distress than younger adults during the COVID-19 pandemic was also replicated in a survey of over 1,000 people in India aged 18—87.¹⁰⁰ While older persons reported greater fear of the virus than younger adults, they also reported less distress at the COVID-19-related social isolation responses enforced by the government.

Despite the clear evidence of social disruption and social impacts of the pandemic across the region, there were some indications that not all such impacts were negative. A study of almost 3,000 Australians aged 55 or older¹³¹ explored the social and mental health impact of COVID-19 between June and September 2020. Interestingly, while the quality of life of older Australians reduced as a consequence of the pandemic, approximately 37 per cent of respondents agreed that COVID-19 had actually had a positive impact on their personal relationships and 26 per cent agreed that it had improved their social relationships. Further, the results for older persons in the state of Victoria (under lockdown restrictions during this period) still suggested that a significant number continued to experience positive impacts on their personal relationships (34 per cent) and social relationships (33 per cent) despite lockdown. This was mirrored by a study of Māori kaumatua (indigenous community leaders) in New Zealand¹⁵⁶ which revealed that, despite some negative impacts of COVID-19 lockdowns (for instance, enforced changes to funeral customs and missing face-to-face discussions), many kaumatua felt more connected with and supported by family and neighbours during the lockdown than ever before. Further, a smaller study of older Australian adults using care services during the first national lockdown¹⁵⁷ found that, while perceived quality of life was reduced, connections through social networks and a sense of social isolation of these older persons did not decrease.

Access to information technology (for instance, internet-based social devices) may have been a crucial factor mitigating the negative social effects of the COVID-19 pandemic for older adults across Asia and the Pacific, as indicated in the blue box below.





"They went to buy a "ludo" board, but the shops were closed. So my granddaughter has downloaded it on my phone. I am learning to play it. It brings us together on weekends."

India (Bakshi & Bhattacharyya, 2021; p 197)

"What a beautiful thing the Internet is. I understand most things now. I saw my children through the phone and read the news. Having Internet access in the pandemic was very good"

Turkey (Baser, 2021; p 135)

Studies in Australia,¹⁵⁷ India,¹⁵⁸ New Zealand¹⁵⁶ and Turkey¹⁰² specifically found that older persons used or adopted new online technology during lockdowns, which enabled them to maintain connections with family and friends, and ensure they could undertake key roles such as shopping and seeking medical care. Further, research supports the idea that older adults can successfully adopt and utilize online technology. For example, older adults in Taiwan Province of China¹⁵⁹ successfully adopted an augmented reality-based calligraphy class with comparable satisfaction to those using e-books, and an enhanced acceptance of technology.

However, lack of familiarity with new technology can be a stumbling block to utilization and older adults are still not as accepting of internet-based communication and consumerism as other cohorts.

While online technology may help mitigate the negative effects of COVID-19 lockdowns for many, older persons also highlighted the numerous different barriers to adopting such technology (see also the blue box below). Studies in China, India and the Islamic Republic of Iran during the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted that older persons:

- Preferred seeking news from newspapers or television rather than online news or social media apps^{101, 160, 161}
- Were less likely than younger cohorts to use social or online media for their news¹⁶¹
- Found it more difficult than younger cohorts to use phone-based apps¹⁶²
- Were anxious about using online payment systems¹⁵⁸
- Felt negative about the use of tele-health services¹⁰¹ and more so than younger adults¹⁶³
- Were concerned about falling victim to cybercrime¹⁵⁸

"'After a certain point of time, it becomes difficult to follow or remember the steps. So, the more the instructions are simple and 'nontechnical' the easier it is."

India (Bakshi & Bhattacharyya, 2021; p 199)

"'I have to ask my granddaughter again and again."

China (Wang, Katz et al., 2021; p 55)

"There is no guarantee that COVID-19 will be gone forever and at my age, I don't know technology like young people."

Malaysia (Chee, 2020; p. 309)





There are potential benefits of older adults being more inclined to use traditional media (television and radio). One study in Hong Kong, China¹⁶⁴ found that older adults were far less likely to be exposed to misinformation about COVID-19 than younger adults. Research from Japan¹⁶⁵ also indicated that there were clear gender disparities in older persons existing adoption of information technology, such as computers and smartphones. Specifically, older men were much more likely than older women to be current users of information technology. This suggests that older women are likely at a social disadvantage when government pandemic responses involve social isolation, as they are less likely to be readily able to transition from face-to-face to online social connections.

In addition to the positive and negative social impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific, research identified some factors underpinning social resilience in the face of COVID-19.

Researchers identified individual strength and resilience factors that supported well-being and reduced the impact of potential social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. Overall, they reflect a focus on others through social engagement and volunteering. This helped to reduce distress and improved quality of life during COVID-19. Volunteering was identified as a significant potential source of resilience for older persons during the pandemic. One study explored the role of implicit social capital (that is, a sense of social trust and belonging) and explicit social capital (such as the level of social reciprocity) in mitigating the mental health impacts of COVID-19 in community-based older persons in Shanghai.¹⁶⁶ They found that older persons who were more socially engaged during the pandemic (people who often volunteered) had much better levels of social trust and belonging, which helped reduce depression and improve life satisfaction.

A survey of older Hong Kong, China residents (n=128) explored the role of volunteering on mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁶⁷ The majority of those surveyed (77.3 per cent) reported engaging in at least one volunteering activity, with 69.5 per cent of these offering emotional support to neighbours and friends. Those volunteering to help and those with increased self-esteem were more likely to assist in purchasing daily necessities for others during the pandemic. Further, those who helped others buy necessities reported lower depression and anxiety than those who did not. Ultimately, these results suggest that self-esteem acts both as a driver of volunteering and social connection, and as a foundation for maintaining well-being during the pandemic.

Research also supports the potential role of pets as a vector for well-being. For example, a survey of Japanese older persons (n=9,856) explored the mitigating effects of pet ownership on psychological health.¹⁶⁸ They found that older persons that owned a dog during the pandemic reported significantly better psychological health than older persons without one. In this instance, dog ownership appeared to mitigate the social isolation caused by the pandemic, likely as a result of the value inherent in animal-human interactions and possibly due to the dog as a vector for physical health (such as daily walking).

LTCFs are a critical context for exploring the impact of COVID-19. Existing literature is sparse, but there is evidence that the pandemic may have affected mental health in LTCF residents. Further, a comparison of older persons in the community and in LTCFs suggests key shared experiences of the COVID-19 pandemic. HelpAge International⁵³ recently identified some of the known issues (by mid-2020) likely enhancing the social impact of COVID-19 for LTCF residents in the region. Primarily, LTCF residents were more likely to have conditions (such as dementia or frailty) that undermine risk mitigation efforts such as social distancing and personal hygiene.

One of the only studies to explore the impact of COVID-19 on LTCF residents offered a snapshot of the extent of social support and mental health of LTCF residents in Malaysia during 2020.¹⁶⁹ They found that 94 per cent of residents were severely depressed, overall levels of perceived social support were low, and the drivers of





depression were lack of social support, lack of hobbies and being in the home longer than a year. A second study in Hong Kong, China found that the number of LTCF residents admitted to psychiatric units during the COVID-19 pandemic almost doubled, often due to the confrontations with LTCF staff regarding the need to be confined to their rooms.¹⁷⁰

A third study of LTCF residents in Malaysia was a qualitative exploration of the key themes in reaction to the COVID-19 lockdown. The results of this study are included in this paper alongside the results of four other qualitative studies (presented in box 2). Collectively, these results identify commonalities in the experience of COVID-19 for older persons across countries in the Asia-Pacific region.

Ultimately, as an identified population both at high-risk from COVID-19 and as the focus of government safety measures, many older persons' experiences of the pandemic was shaped by:

- Feelings of vulnerability and fear
- Being socially disconnected and isolated
- Forced reliance on (and experiencing the reactions of) others





Box 2: Comparing the COVID-19 experience for older persons: Voices from Malaysia, the Republic of Korea and Turkey

Five qualitative studies from three countries offer insight into the experiences on older persons in countries across Asia and the Pacific during the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite differences in country context and the residential setting (one study focuses on aged-care), three clear themes appear to have shaped a consistent experience of older persons across the region. Specifically, the experience of older persons during COVID-19 in Asia and the Pacific reflects having to live with:

- 1. Vulnerability to a virus and fear of what that virus might do to them
- 2. Social disconnection and the isolation stemming from government enforced protection orders for older persons
- 3. A total reliance on others for support, and dealing with the reactions and behaviours of others

Ates (2020)¹⁷¹ Older persons in Turkey (Community-dwelling)	Baser et al (2021)¹⁷² Older persons in Turkey (Community-dwelling)	Yildrim (2021)¹⁷³ Older persons in Turkey (Community-dwelling)	Kim et al (2021) ¹⁷⁴ Older persons in the Republic of Korea (Community-dwelling)	Chee (2020) ¹⁷⁵ Older persons in Malaysia (Aged-care facility)				
Older persons have experienced vulnerability and fear								
"After watching the news on TV, I was certain I was not going to survive this pandemic. Everyone was talking about the deaths of the older population. I felt like they have buried me alive."	"I have asthma. If I go out and get infected with the disease, it would first kill me. No, I never got out; I am very careful. I'm scared, of course."	" I'm so worried, will it end? won't it end? I feel that I am under a burden that I cannot bear. I constantly cry. My health has worsened. If the disease infects me, everyone will run away from me."	"We can't see who is infected. That's why contact with other people is very scary." "I receive COVID-19-related texts every day. I can't be relaxed when I see those. I am worried because it can be me at any time."	"I can't risk having to leave the home to seek treatment during COVID-19 I think about going to the hospital also feel scared." "What I worry about now is the disease, I watch the news, they said that it is harder for old people like us to survive"				





Older persons have experienced social disconnection and isolation									
"I feel worthless. It feels like they have cut off one of my vital veins, and I am dying slowly." "There is nothing to do at home all day. If that doesn't drive you insane, I am not sure what can."	"I did not meet anyone. I have not seen my children for three months. My son is a cancer patient; I can't even see him. We are at home with my wifeI cry every day."	"All stoppedmy activities that we got together three or five times a week and walked in the fresh air have come to an end. I am locked between four walls"	"I would avoid going outside I would not go out of the house unless it's really necessary."	"There is no one to bring me out anymoreI really wish to have people from the outside here. They make me feel normal. Now I am just stuck."					
Older persons have experienced reliance on (and the reactions of) others									
	Older persons ha	ave experienced reliance on (and t	he reactions of) others						





5. Economic impacts of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific

Countries throughout the region responded to the COVID-19 pandemic with interventions intended to stabilize labour markets or enhance social protection. However, the mix of interventions varied both between countries and across subregions, and only some interventions targeted older persons. Consequently, they have likely had a mixed effect on older persons, with some enhancing their economic well-being and others eroding it.

The need for COVID-19 economic support was heightened in the Asia and Pacific region. Substantial prepandemic growth in economic inequality likely compounded the fiscal impact of COVID-19 for the most vulnerable (including older persons).¹⁷⁶ Consequently, many older persons across the region already lacking adequate social insurance or assistance programmes were forced to continue working, find additional work (if underemployed or unemployed) or further rely on family for their survival.²⁶

The World Bank¹⁷⁷ highlighted that countries intervened to reduce the economic impact of COVID-19 by offering social assistance packages (cash-transfers, and utility and financial support) and social insurance provisions (paid leave provisions and pension enhancements) and intervening in labour markets (wage subsidies and labour regulations, such as minimum wage increases). On average, countries devoted approximately half of their initiatives toward social assistance and the other half to social insurance and labour market interventions. The mix of initiatives varied considerably between regions.

Three quarters of the social protection interventions in South Asia (comprising many low- and middle-income countries) reflected social assistance support (75 per cent). In East Asia and the Pacific, social assistance reflected 61 per cent of interventions and 39 per cent in Europe and Central Asia (figure 10)





Source: World Bank (2020). Social Protection and Jobs Responses to COVID-19.





Asia and the Pacific is the region with the lowest level of social protection responses to COVID-19 and significant variation in the types of responses implemented. Current evidence indicates that the Asia-Pacific region had a lower share of countries implementing social protection responses to the pandemic (87.0 per cent), compared to a world average of 92.9 per cent.¹⁷⁸

Further investigation of the World Bank dataset illustrates substantial variation in the degree to which interventions implemented throughout the region have actually targeted older persons. Figure 11 highlights the social assistance, social insurance and labour market interventions by individual Asian and Pacific countries that clearly targeted older populations or specifically included them within the intended subpopulations of interest. Of the 51 countries listed in the Asia-Pacific region, only 12 (24 per cent) specifically implemented changes to pensions servicing older populations.





Figure 11: Specific social protection responses by countries in Asia and the Pacific that targeted older populations







The greatest projected economic risk of COVID-19 for older persons in Asia and the Pacific was that it would likely increase workforce exit for older workers. However, little data are available to identify whether this trend occurred. Instead, the most evident economic impact of COVID-19 on older persons to date has been a reduction in income and economic security (see also blue box below).

"'The impact was that there were a lot of problems. We took the ration distributed by the government. We consumed that. There were a few things [at home], we sold one or two things with the help of my daughter. My son drives a rickshaw, and my husband stays at home; we are old. It impacted him [spouse]. He was out of work for three months."

India (Singh et al, 2021; p.9)

"Despite the issuance of guidelines allowing older persons to go out if deemed 'indispensable', many older persons are still complaining that they have been barred from getting out to do economic activities or buy essential needs. This is because many implementers at the local level have a different interpretation of what is 'indispensable', this resulted in the unequal implementation of policies."

The Philippines (HelpAge International, 2021; p 8)

Initial concern about the economic impact of COVID-19 on older persons in Asia and the Pacific centred on the precarious nature of their employment (particularly women) and the role that COVID-19 would have in enhancing workforce exit.

A recent APEC policy brief¹⁷⁹ on the future of work in the post-COVID-19 Asia-Pacific region highlighted that older persons were a workforce at particular risk of unemployment for two key reasons:

- Their heightened requirements to socially distance to reduce infection risk paradoxically increases their risk of work exit (voluntary or forced).
- Employers are also less likely to hire from this same cohort, with the loss of such skilled and knowledgeable staff potentially pushing firms toward greater automation.

However, there is insufficient regional data to indicate whether this projected workforce exit for older workers occurred. Despite an absence of data with which to explore concerns regarding enhanced workforce exit during the COVID-19 pandemic, there are ample country-specific data to suggest that COVID-19 significantly affected the income and economic security of older persons in certain countries in Asia and the Pacific: Armenia, Cambodia and Thailand.

The *Impact of COVID-19 on Older Persons in Thailand* survey conducted in July 2020¹³⁵ provides some direct results on the economic realities of 1,230 adults aged 60 or older living in urban and rural areas in all provinces across Thailand. A state of emergency was declared on 26 March 2020, with curfews and movement restriction orders for the following months. As a result, 55 per cent of women and 57 per cent of men aged 60 or older reported having a lower income as a result of the COVID-19 public health responses (see figure 12).





Figure 12. The impact of COVID-19 on income of older men and women in Thailand, 2020, percentage



Source: Pothisiri W, Buathong T, & B., B. (2021). *The Impact of COVID 19 on Older Persons in Thailand: Evidence from the Survey.* Bangkok, UNFPA.

Encouragingly, a considerable portion of the oldest age group (aged 80+) for both women and men reported 'steady' or unchanged income during this time – however, a sharp age gradient was seen reflecting the realities of the workforce, work options and the Thai economy. These age patterns were similar in urban and rural areas – with older persons in rural areas reporting lower impacts (lower income – 51 per cent in rural areas, 63 per cent in urban areas). The differences between lower and higher educated older persons in those reporting impacts on income were minimal (56 per cent versus 55 per cent, respectively, reporting lower income). A follow-on question, "During the COVID-19 outbreak (from March to May 2020), was your income adequate for living?", revealed a sizeable portion, 65 per cent of women and 62 per cent of men, reporting 'always inadequate' or 'sometimes adequate' income for living.





The World Bank COVID-19 *High Frequency Phone Survey* in Armenia¹⁵¹ included data on 853 adults aged 60 or older collected between July and December 2020. A majority of older Armenians reported no change to their incomes (see figure 13).





Source: World Bank. COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey in Armenia.

For those that did report a change, more reported a decrease (versus increase) in income. Similar to the situation in Thailand, age differences in income impacts were reported – more pronounced in women in the 60—69 age group than the 70—79 and 80+ groups. Men aged 60—69 and 70—79 had similar rates of decreased income (either significantly or somewhat). Some 45 percent of women and 41 per cent of men aged 60—69 reported that income decreased significantly or decreased somewhat. Urban or rural residence differences were small, as were differences by education levels.

The Cambodia *COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey of Households 2020-2021* was conducted over five waves, with the final wave in March 2021 – which included 172 adults aged 60 or older. The sample was drawn from the Living Standard Measurement Study Plus (LSMS+) implemented from October to December 2019. Few age differences were seen when older Cambodians were asked about the impact that COVID-19 had (over a 9-month period) on household well-being and economic status (see figure 14).





Figure 14. Economic impact of COVID-19 on household income in Cambodia 2020, percentage



Source: World Bank. COVID-19 High Frequency Phone Survey of Households 2020-2021, Living Standards Measurement Study Plus, Cambodia.

For both women and men, similar percentages of those aged 60—69 and 70—79 reported reduced or the same well-being and economic status. Differences were seen between the sexes though, with a higher percentage of women than men reporting reduced well-being and economic status (41 to 35 per cent), whereas a higher percentage of men than women reported no change (59 to 55 per cent).

When asked about whether any member of the household had received assistance or support in the previous four months, 27 per cent of older women and 19 per cent of older men reported receiving direct cash transfers (from government, international organizations or religious bodies). A total of 29 per cent of rural dwellers reported receiving direct cash transfers, compared to 13 per cent of urban dwellers.





6. Conclusion and recommendations

There have been numerous health, social and economic impacts of COVID-19 on older adults across Asia and the Pacific, and respect for their human rights has also been affected. However, impacts have not been uniformly felt – instead they differ by country, population and individual-level factors. In particular, there are clear gender divides in key outcomes: while older men bear the brunt of COVID-19 physical health issues (including infection, medical intervention and death) older women are more likely to experience the mental health, social and economic burden.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on older persons throughout Asia and the Pacific, a key group that was often the target of protective social isolation measures. Figure 15 highlights these issues in the global context. However, there were many unintended consequences of government public health response measures that also affected older persons, particularly the limiting of access to care for all health conditions and the considerable mental health, and socioeconomic challenges of social isolation. Of particular note is the lack of agency and engagement older persons experienced in government decision-making across countries in Asia and the Pacific. This likely undermined, to some extent, the measures implemented to protect older persons from the harms of the pandemic, and may indeed have heightened issues with them.

Figure 15. An overview of the impacts of COVID-19 on older persons

COVID-19 AND OLDER PERSONS Economic well-being Life and Death The pandemic may significantly Fatality rates are five times higher than global average. An estimated lower older persons' incomes and living standards. Already, less than 66% of people aged 70 and over have 20% of older persons of retirement at least one underlying health age receiving a pension condition Mental health Vulnerability Physical distancing can take a Essential care that older persons often rely on is heavy toll on our mental health. under pressure. Almost half of COVID-19 deaths in Living alone and being more digitally Europe occurred in long term care settings. Older women often provide care for older relatives included than others, the risks are higher for older persons increasing their risk to infection Responders Abuse and neglect Older persons are not just victims. In 2017, 1 in 6 older persons were They are also responding. They are subjected to abuse. With lockdowns and health workers, carers and among reduced care, violence against older many essential service providers persons is on the rise

Image reprinted from United Nations (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Older Persons (p. 4).

While vulnerabilities and stresses were evident in older populations, many governments responded with a range of support options including:

- Direct cash transfers
- Employment incentives
- Food packages
- Pension enhancements
- Medical leave
- Offsets for the cost of utilities (electricity, water, Internet) and rent





Even with income losses and feelings of social isolation stemming from movement restriction orders, older persons demonstrated resilience and social optimism that helped themselves, their families and communities.¹⁸⁰ Older persons were caregivers, provided social support to family and friends, and those working or with income from a pension provided valuable economic support to households.

Two demographic trends have fundamentally shaped the experience of COVID-19 for older persons in Asia and the Pacific, specifically that it:

- Illustrated clear areas of risk and resilience across the lifespan. While older persons may have been more resilient than younger adults to the mental health impacts of the pandemic, they were far more likely to experience the wider burdens of the pandemic, including having to isolate, to lose income and employment, to catch COVID-19, to have severe illness requiring medical intervention, and to die from the virus.
- Highlighted a fundamental gender difference in health, social and economic outcomes. Men were more likely to catch the virus, to experience severe illness from it, and to die; yet older women throughout the region experienced worse mental health, and social and economic outcomes. While older persons experienced significant impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic, there are also insights into factors that have mitigated risks or impacts. The acceleration of digital health adoption during the pandemic has largely been seen as positive, including successful efforts like shifting face-to-face care to telemedicine and e-Health across the region. The virtual space was also used to maintain social connections. These positive developments may contribute to an increased digital divide among older persons who are not digitally literate or have financial constraints that mean they are not able to benefit from these advances.

The arrival of COVID-19 has created unprecedented challenges for health systems,¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸³ as well as economic and social protection systems, and the social fabric of lives. Assessing the social, economic, health and human rights-related impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on older populations will be important to inform and tailor the responses of governments and partners to recover from the crisis and ensure that older persons are not left behind in this effort, or excluded in future pandemics. Based on this review, a set of action points have been developed around the three MIPAA priority areas:

- 1. Older persons and development.
- 2. Advancing health and well-being into old age.
- 3. Ensuring enabling and supportive environments.

1. Respect older persons agency: include older adults in pandemic response decisionmaking systems

- Older persons in communities across Asia and the Pacific have indicated that decisions are being made for their protection but without their input. This lack of engagement is obvious in the multiple international reports highlighting the actions required to protect the health and well-being of older persons, but (with one exception²⁶) ignoring any mention of including older persons in strategic planning and decision-making.
- Government and non-governmental organizations in Asia and the Pacific focusing on the health and well-being of older persons need to invest in decision-making models that include representatives of older person communities to ensure responses are co-designed and fit-for-purpose. This focus on the inclusion of older persons extends to each of the following action points.

2. Prioritize the health, social and economic needs of older women

• Older men had a documented vulnerability to COVID-19 infection and the morbidity and mortality





outcomes of the virus. However, older women throughout Asia and the Pacific were consistently affected more heavily by the wider, indirect social, economic and mental health burden of this pandemic.

• Governments and international health, aid and labour organizations need to focus more of their health, social and economic support activities on the protection and enhancement of older women.

3. Older persons are economic resources: strengthen social protection systems [MIPAA #1]

- The impact of the pandemic on global economic growth has been massive.¹⁸⁴ This has translated into financial impacts on older persons, yet they have remained resilient. Pensions for older persons are the most widespread social protection scheme in the region, yet in many cases, coverage and support levels remain low.²⁶ Despite this, where pension income was available, it was often stretched across the household.^{176,178}
- Governments need to extend coverage of old-age pensions, particularly to older women, which would have a pronounced impact on the livelihoods of older persons and household well-being.
- 4. Integrate responses to communicable and non-communicable diseases into health and surveillance systems, and "count" age: strengthen health and social care systems [MIPAA #2]
- The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed dysfunction and fragility in many systems.^{5, 185} Even with older age being a known risk, age-disaggregation of data has still not been a priority in health information and surveillance systems. "Building back better" has been a consistent response to the many sectors severely affected by COVID-19. But risk- and evidence-informed approaches with age-disaggregated data will be essential for a coordinated and sustained response. This pandemic has shown the need for systems to "count" age (particularly older adult populations), and reduce vertical approaches.
- Government and international health surveillance organizations need to develop new (or enhance existing) health information data collection systems that automatically disaggregate data by age. Further, the health and social care systems linked to the health information systems should account for the intersection of older age, and communicable and non-communicable diseases. This means systems that can pivot to (or facilitate in delivery of) telemedicine or contactless care when required.
- Vaccines, diagnostics and therapeutics are known and cost-effective public health interventions to prevent, treat and eradicate diseases, in particular among older persons. In this regard, health systems need to be strengthened, and public and private sector institutions need to urgently step up manufacturing, distribution and redistribution of effective and safe vaccines in large supplies, with long shelf-life and without earmarks.

5. The supportive environments of the future will require a mixture of in-person and digital connections: strengthen digital literacy and opportunities among older persons [MIPAA #3]

• COVID-19 restrictions greatly reduced older persons' abilities to access relevant health and social care information and messages. This places an emphasis on digital technology as a solution. While many older adults have successfully adopted technology to enhance their health, and economic and social lives, it is clear that they are more likely than younger adults to need such technology. Yet, they have more limited access to, knowledge of and utility with such technology, which can exacerbate social disconnection. Many older adults rely heavily on home care and community services, which can be restricted or cancelled depending on COVID-19 policies. This is especially a concern in terms of food security, where older persons may be unable to access food themselves without significant risk to their health.





- A number of digital solutions (such as the uptake of telemedicine, task shifting and redirecting patients living with non-communicable diseases to available services) have demonstrated the capacity of health systems to make these changes. Here again, COVID-19 has provided a unique opening to rethink health systems,¹⁸⁶ but research will be needed to turn digital solutions and responses to COVID-19 surges into lessons learned and feasible, sustainable solutions for health systems. Research is needed into how digital and other solutions have contributed to health system transformations and the direct and indirect health consequences for older Asia-Pacific populations.^{187, 188} Using these research results, development assistance for health would be needed for lower income Asia-Pacific countries to embed these solutions into their health systems and policies for universal health coverage. Virtual and contactless delivery services would need to be strengthened and older persons supported to efficiently access these services.
- 6. Country-specific responses (complementing broad regional approaches) are required to fit the varying contexts in which older adults live in Asia and the Pacific
- A World Bank report indicated that the experience of COVID-19 (rates of mortality) is often not generalizable between low, medium and high-income countries. This paper shows that the COVID-19 experience (both the rate of death and the wider health, social and economic impacts) has also considerably varied across countries in Asia and the Pacific.
- Governments, international agencies and non-government stakeholders need to tailor regional or national pandemic responses more clearly to the characteristics and capabilities of their older populations. This entails engaging older persons in decision-making to recognize whether outcomes are feasible (such as pivoting to virtual care or volunteering, or online social engagement) or risks can be mitigated (such as, social isolation due to preventive measures). With active input from older adults, and given the nature of support available and the presence or absence of factors identified in this paper, the forthcoming Asia-Pacific and global MIPAA reviews could identify key action points to support successful outcomes for older persons now and in the future.





References

- 1. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) (2021). List of countries in the Asia-Pacific region and subregions. Available from: https://data.unescap.org/dataviz/methodology/list-of-countries-in-the-asia-pacific-region-and-subregions.html
- 2. Allen, L. (2017). Are we facing a noncommunicable disease pandemic? *Journal of epidemiology and global health*, *7*(1), 5-9.
- 3. Raviglione, M., & Maher, D. (2017). Ending infectious diseases in the era of the Sustainable Development Goals. *Porto biomedical journal, 2*(5), 140-142.
- 4. World Health Organization (2014). *Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance*: World Health Organization.
- 5. United Nations (2020). *The Impact of COVID-19 on Older Persons*. Available from: https://www.unilibrary.org/content/papers/27082245/7
- 6. United Nations (2021). *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2021* (9789211014396). United Nations Fund for Population Activities. Available from: <u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2021/</u>
- 7.
 United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs (2021). The Sustainable Development Goals

 Report 2021.
 United
 Nations.
 Available
 from: https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210056083
- 8. World Health Organization (2020). *Guidance on COVID-19 for the care of older people and people living in long-term care facilities, other non-acute care facilities and home care*. Manila: WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific. Available from: <u>https://iris.wpro.who.int/handle/10665.1/14500</u>
- 9. World Health Organization. (2020). *Regional action plan on healthy ageing in the Western Pacific* (929061935X). Manila, WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific. Available from: <u>https://iris.wpro.who.int/handle/10665.1/14714</u>
- 10. Russell, F. M., & Greenwood, B. (2021). Who should be prioritised for COVID-19 vaccination? *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *17*(5), 1317-1321.
- 11. United Nations (2020). *A UN framework for the immediate socio-economic response to COVID-19*. New York, NY, USA, United Nations. Available from: <u>https://unsdg.un.org/resources/un-framework-immediate-socio-economic-response-covid-19</u>
- 12. Roy, J., Jain, R., Golamari, R., Vunnam, R., & Sahu, N. (2020). COVID-19 in the geriatric population. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *35*(12), 1437-1441.
- 13. United Nations (2020). United Nations Comprehensive Response to COVID-19: Saving Lives, Protecting Societies, Recovering Better. Available from: <u>https://unsdg.un.org/resources/united-nations-comprehensive-response-covid-19-saving-lives-protecting-societies-0</u>
- 14. United Nations (2020). *The World of Work and COVID-19.* Available from: https://www.unilibrary.org/content/papers/27082245/13
- 15. Ksinan Jiskrova, G., Bobák, M., Pikhart, H., & Ksinan, A. J. (2021). Job loss and lower healthcare utilisation due to COVID-19 among older adults across 27 European countries. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 75*(11), 1078-1083. Available from: 10.1136/jech-2021-216715
- 16. OECD (2021). *Financial consumer protection and financial literacy in Asia in response to COVID-19.* Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available from: <u>www.oecd.org/financial/education/financial-consumer-protection-and-financial-literacy-in-asia-in-</u> <u>response-to-covid-19.htm</u>
- 17. OECD (2020). *Strengthening seniors' financial well-being throughout the COVID-19 crisis and its aftermath*. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available from: <u>https://www.oecd.org/financial/education/Senior-financial-well-being-covid-19.pdf</u>
- 18. HelpAge International (2020). *Data gaps and ageing in the COVID-19 pandemic*. Chiang Mai, Thailand, HelpAge International. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/silo/files/data-gaps-and-ageing-in-the-covid19-pandemic.pdf</u>





- 19. Naughton, L., Padeiro, M., & Santana, P. (2021). The twin faces of ageism, glorification and abjection: A content analysis of age advocacy in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Aging Studies*, *57*, 100938.
- 20. United National Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner (2020). "Unacceptable" UN expert urges better protection of older persons facing the highest risk of the COVID-19 pandemic. Available from: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25748&LangID=E</u>
- 21. World Health Organization (2021). *COVID-19 and measures to 'build back better'essential health services to achieve UHC and the health-related SDGs*. World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia.
- 22. United Nations, Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2021). ESCAP Population Data Sheet 2021. Available from: https://www.unescap.org/kp/2021/2021-escap-population-data-sheet
- 23. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2018). *Population dynamics and inequality in Asia and the Pacific*. United Nations. Available from: <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3882031?ln=en</u>
- 24. Miyawaki, A., & Tsugawa, Y. (2021). Health and public health implications of COVID-19 in Asian countries. *Asian Economic Policy Review*.
- 25. Fitzgerald, D. A., & Wong, G. W. (2020). COVID-19: A tale of two pandemics across the Asia Pacific region. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews, 35*, 75-80.
- 26. United Nations Economic Social Commission for Asia the Pacific (2021). *The Protection We Want: Social Outlook for Asia and the Pacific*. Manila: United Nations.
- 27. European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations (2020). *Policy Brief: Developing Shock Responsive Social Protection System to Mitigate the Impact of COVID-19, Enable Speedy Recovery and Strengthen the Resilience of Vulnerable People in ASEAN.* Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). Available from: <u>https://asean.org/book/policy-brief-developing-shock-responsive-social-protectionsystem-to-mitigate-the-impact-of-covid-19-enable-speedy-recovery-and-strengthen-the-resilienceof-vulnerable-people-in-asean/</u>
- 28. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2017). Addressing the challenges of population ageing in Asia and the Pacific: implementation of the Madrid international plan of action of ageing (9211207541). Bangkok, United Nations. Available from: https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/publications/Addressing%20the%20Challenges%20of%20Population%20Ageing%20in%20Asia%20and%20the%20Pacific.pdf
- 29. World Health Organization (2021). *WHO SAGE roadmap for prioritizing uses of COVID-19 vaccines in the context of limited supply: an approach to inform planning and subsequent recommendations based on epidemiological setting and vaccine supply scenarios, first issued 20 October 2020, latest update 16 July 2021.* World Health Organization. Retrieved from: https://covid-19pharmacovigilance.paho.org/img/recursos/610dc73061b8acb3ac0ad65d2.pdf
- 30. Privor-Dumm, L., Vasudevan, P., Kobayashi, K., & Gupta, J. (2020). Archetype analysis of older adult immunization decision-making and implementation in 34 countries. *Vaccine*, *38*(26), 4170-4182.
- 31. Mahendradhata, Y., Andayani, N. L. P. E. P., & Marthias, T. (2021). *COVID-19 Health System Response Monitor: Republic of Indonesia*. New Delhi, India, World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251893</u>
- 32. Jacinta, I., Chen, P., Ko, K. C., Mei-li, A. Y. L., Yap, J. C., & Lim, J. (2021). *COVID-19 health system response monitor: Singapore* (9290228520). New Delhi, India, World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251893</u>
- Patcharanaruamol, W., Lekagul, A., Akaleephan, C., Markchang, K., Phaiyarom, M., Rajatanavin, N., . . Asgari-Jirhandeh, N. (2020). *COVID-19 health system response monitor: Thailand* (9290228016). New Delhi, India, World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251893</u>
- 34. Cumming, J. (2021). *COVID-19 health system response monitor: New Zealand* (9290228466). New Delhi, India, World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia. Available from:





https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251893

- 35. World Health Organization (2021). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard: Situation by Region, Country, Territory & Area. Available from: <u>https://covid19.who.int/table</u>
- 36. HelpAge International (2021). *Are older people being heard? The impact of COVID-19 on older people's ability to exercise their voice*. London, UK, HelpAge International. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/resources/publications/</u>
- 37. HelpAge International (2020). *COVID-19 rapid needs assessment of older people*. HelpAge International. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/what-we-do/coronavirus-covid19/covid19-rapid-needs-assessment-rnas/</u>
- 38. Wu, Z., & McGoogan, J. M. (2020). Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *JAMA*, *323*(13), 1239-1242.
- 39. World Health Organization (2020). *Report of the WHO-China joint mission on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)* Geneva, Switzerland, World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3859867?ln=en</u>
- 40. Zhao, Z.-Y., Zhu, Y.-Z., Xu, J.-W., Hu, S.-X., Hu, Q.-Q., Lei, Z., . . . Chen, T.-M. (2020). A five-compartment model of age-specific transmissibility of SARS-CoV-2. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty, 9*(1). Available from:10.1186/s40249-020-00735-x
- 41. Oh, T. K., Choi, J.-W., & Song, I.-A. (2021). Socioeconomic disparity and the risk of contracting COVID-19 in South Korea: an NHIS-COVID-19 database cohort study. *BMC Public Health, 21*(1). Available from:10.1186/s12889-021-10207-y
- 42. Jing, Q.-L., Liu, M.-J., Zhang, Z.-B., Fang, L.-Q., Yuan, J., Zhang, A.-R., . . . Yang, Y. (2020). Household secondary attack rate of COVID-19 and associated determinants in Guangzhou, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Infectious Diseases, 20*(10), 1141-1150. Available from: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30471-0
- Mousavi, S., Rouhanizadeh, H., Saeedi, M., Moosazadeh, M., Ajami, A., Fendereski, A., . . . Bandalizaeh,
 Z. (2021). Seroprevalence of SARS-CoV-2 in Mazandaran province, Iran. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, *14*(1), 10-16. Available from: Av10.4103/1995-7645.304296
- 44. Aisyah, D. N., Mayadewi, C. A., Diva, H., Kozlakidis, Z., Siswanto, & Adisasmito, W. (2020). A spatial-4temporal description of the SARS-CoV-2 infections in Indonesia during the first six months of outbreak. *PloS One*, *15*(12), 1-14.
- 45. Gupta, M. K., Bhardwaj, P., Goel, A. D., Saurabh, S., & Misra, S. (2021). Trends of epidemiological and demographic indicators of COVID-19 in India. *Journal of Infection in Developing Countries, 15*(5), 618-624. Available from: 10.3855/JIDC.13243
- Basnet, B. B., Bishwakarma, K., Pant, R. R., Dhakal, S., Pandey, N., Gautam, D., . . . Basnet, T. B. (2021). Combating the COVID-19 Pandemic: Experiences of the First Wave From Nepal. *Frontiers in Public Health, 9.* Available from: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.613402
- 47. Park, H.-Y., Lee, J. H., Lim, N.-K., Lim, D. S., Hong, S. O., Park, M.-J., . . . Jeong, E. K. (2020). Presenting characteristics and clinical outcome of patients with COVID-19 in South Korea: A nationwide retrospective observational study. *The Lancet Regional Health Western Pacific, 5*. Available from:10.1016/j.lanwpc.2020.100061
- 48. Deng, X., Yang, J., Wang, W., Wang, X., Zhou, J., Chen, Z., . . . Zhang, J. (2020). Case fatality risk of the first pandemic wave of novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*.
- 49. Olsen, W., Bera, M., Dubey, A., Kim, J., Wisniowski, A., & Yadav, P. (2020). Hierarchical Modelling of COVID-19 Death Risk in India in the Early Phase of the Pandemic. *European Journal of Development Research, 32*(5), 1476-1503. 10.1057/s41287-020-00333-5
- 50. Esme, M., Koca, M., Dikmeer, A., Balci, C., Ata, N., Dogu, B. B., . . . Birinci, S. (2021). Older adults with Coronavirus Disease 2019: A nationwide study in turkey. *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 76*(3), e68-e75. Available from:10.1093/gerona/glaa219
- 51. Demombynes, G., De Walque, D., Gubbins, P., Urdinola, B., & Veillard, J. (2021). COVID-19 Age-Mortality





Curves for 2020 Are Flatter in Developing Countries Using Both Official Death Counts and Excess Deaths. The World Bank. Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/36425

- 52. Demombynes, G. (2020). *COVID-19 Age-Mortality Curves Are Flatter in Developing Countries*. Washington, DC, The World Bank. Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34028</u>
- 53. HelpAge International (2020). *COVID-19, older adults and long-term care in Asia Pacific*. Chiang Mai, Thailand, HelpAge International. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/silo/files/covid19-older-adults-and-longterm-care-in-asia-pacific.pdf</u>
- 54. Walker, W., & Wyse, M. (2021). *Leadership and Governance of Long-Term Care Systems in Asia and the Pacific* (929269149X). Asian Development Bank. Available from: <u>https://www.adb.org/publications/long-term-care-systems-lessons-asia-pacific</u>
- 55. OECD (2021). *The territorial impact of COVID-19: Managing the crisis and recovery across levels of government*. Available from: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/paper/a2c6abaf-en</u>
- 56. Chow, L. (2021). Care homes and COVID-19 in Hong Kong: how the lessons from SARS were used to good effect. *Age and Ageing, 50*(1), 21-24. Available from: 10.1093/ageing/afaa234
- 57. Lowy Institute (2021). *COVID Performance Index: Deconstructing Pandemic Responses*. Available from: <u>https://interactives.lowyinstitute.org/features/covid-performance/#rankings</u>
- 58. Rudan, I. (2021). Evaluating different national strategies to contain the COVID-19 pandemic before mass vaccination. *Journal of Global Health, 11*.
- 59. Comas-Herrera A, Zalakaín J, Lemmon E, Henderson D, Litwin C, Hsu AT, . . . J-L, F. (2021). *Mortality associated with COVID-19 outbreaks in care homes: International evidence*. International Long-Term Care Policy Network. Available from: <u>https://ltccovid.org/2020/04/12/mortality-associated-with-covid-19-outbreaks-in-care-homes-early-international-evidence/</u>
- 60. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development. (2020). *Protecting and Supporting Vulnerable Groups Through the Covid-19 Crisis*. United Nations. Available from: <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210052337</u>
- 61. Oh, I.-H., Ock, M., Jang, S. Y., Go, D.-S., Kim, Y.-E., Jung, Y.-S., . . . Yoon, S.-J. (2020). Years of life lost attributable to COVID-19 in high-incidence countries. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, *35*(32).
- Yegorov, S., Goremykina, M., Ivanova, R., Good, S. V., Babenko, D., Shevtsov, A., . . . Zhunussov, Y. (2021). Epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and virologic features of COVID-19 patients in Kazakhstan: A nation-wide retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Regional Health Europe,* 4(100096-). Available from:10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100096
- 63. Liu, X., Lv, J., Gan, L., Zhang, Y., Sun, F., Meng, B., . . . Wulasihana, M. (2020). Comparative Analysis of Clinical Characteristics, Imaging and Laboratory Findings of Different Age Groups with COVID-19. *Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology, 38*(1), 87-93. Available from: 10.4103/ijmm.IJMM_20_133
- Arani, H. Z., Manshadi, G. D., Atashi, H. A., Nejad, A. R., Ghorani, S. M., Abolghasemi, S., . . . Abolghasemi, S. (2021). Understanding the clinical and demographic characteristics of second coronavirus spike in 192 patients in Tehran, Iran: A retrospective study. *PloS One, 16*(3). Available from:10.1371/journal.pone.0246314
- 65. Jang, S. Y., Seon, J. Y., Yoon, S. J., Park, S. Y., Lee, S. H., & Oh, I. H. (2021). Comorbidities and factors determining medical expenses and length of stay for admitted covid-19 patients in Korea. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy, 14*, 2021-2033. Available from:10.2147/RMHP.S292538
- 66. Lee, D. Y., Cho, J., You, S. C., Park, R. W., Kim, C. S., Lee, E. Y., . . . Son, S. J. (2020). Risk of Mortality in Elderly Coronavirus Disease 2019 Patients With Mental Health Disorders: A Nationwide Retrospective Study in South Korea. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 28* (12), 1308-1316. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2020.09.016
- 67. Li, T., Sun, S., Liu, B., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Gong, C., & Duan, J. (2021). Prevalence and Risk Factors for Anxiety and Depression in Patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *83*(4), 368-372. Available from:10.1097/PSY.00000000000934
- 68. Hasani, W. S. R., Ganapathy, S. S., Lin, C. Z., Rifin, H. M., Bahari, M. N., Ghazali, M. H., . . . Ngadiman, S. (2021). Comorbidities and clinical features related to severe outcomes among COVID-19 cases in





Selangor, Malaysia. *Western Pacific Surveillance and Response, 12*(1), 7. Available from:10.5365/wpsar.2020.11.3.007

- 69. Kim, K., Choi, J. W., Moon, J., Akilov, H., Tuychiev, L., Rakhimov, B., & Min, K. S. (2020). Clinical Features of COVID-19 in Uzbekistan. *Journal of Korean Medical Science, 35*(45), e404. Available from:10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e404
- 70. Liu, B., Jayasundara, D., Pye, V., Dobbins, T., Dore, G. J., Matthews, G., . . . Spokes, P. (2021). Whole of population-based cohort study of recovery time from COVID-19 in New South Wales Australia. *The Lancet Regional Health Western Pacific, 12*. Available from: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100193
- 71. World Health Organization (2020). *The impact of COVID-19 on mental, neurological and substance use services: results of a rapid assessment* (9240012451). World Health Organization. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/335838
- 72. Yildirim, O. A., Poyraz, K., & Erdur, E. (2021). Depression and anxiety in cancer patients before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: association with treatment delays. *Quality of Life Research, 30*(7), 1903-1912. Available from:10.1007/s11136-021-02795-4
- 73. Lee, M., & You, M. (2021). Avoidance of Healthcare Utilization in South Korea during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(8). Available from:10.3390/ijerph18084363
- 74. Harris, D., Ellis, D. Y., Gorman, D., Foo, N., & Haustead, D. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 social restrictions on trauma presentations in South Australia. *Emergency Medicine Australasia, 33*(1), 152-154. Available from:10.1111/1742-6723.13680
- 75. Gedik, A. C., & Ozer, M. D. (2021). The Effect of The Stay-At-Home Policy On Ophthalmology Outpatient Clinic Applications During The Covid-19 Pandemic: A Comparative Study. *Eastern Journal of Medicine*, *26*(2), 255-260. Available from:10.5505/ejm.2021.81488
- 76. Samy, A. L., Awang Bono, S., Tan, S. L., & Low, W.-Y. (2021). Mental Health and COVID-19: Policies, Guidelines, and Initiatives from the Asia-Pacific Region. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 10105395211025901.
- 77. Arai, Y., Oguma, Y., Abe, Y., Takayama, M., Hara, A., Urushihara, H., & Takebayashi, T. (2021). Behavioral changes and hygiene practices of older adults in Japan during the first wave of COVID-19 emergency. *BMC Geriatrics, 21*(1), 137. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12877-021-02085-1
- 78. Cigiloglu, A., Ozturk, Z. A., & Efendioglu, E. M. (2021). How have older adults reacted to coronavirus disease 2019? *Psychogeriatrics, 21*(1), 112-117. Available from: 10.1111/psyg.12639
- 79. Sasaki, S., Sato, A., Tanabe, Y., Matsuoka, S., Adachi, A., Kayano, T., . . . Watanabe, T. (2021). Associations between Socioeconomic Status, Social Participation, and Physical Activity in Older People during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study in a Northern Japanese City. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(4). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18041477
- Makizako, H., Nakai, Y., Shiratsuchi, D., Akanuma, T., Yokoyama, K., Matsuzaki-Kihara, Y., & Yoshida, H. (2021). Perceived declining physical and cognitive fitness during the COVID-19 state of emergency among community-dwelling Japanese old-old adults. *Geriatrics and Gerontology International, 21*(4), 364-369. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ggi.14140
- Kusuma, D., Pradeepa, R., Khawaja, K. I., Hasan, M., Siddiqui, S., Mahmood, S., . . . Chambers, J. C. (2021). Low uptake of COVID-19 prevention behaviours and high socioeconomic impact of lockdown measures in South Asia: Evidence from a large-scale multi-country surveillance programme. *SSM Population Health, 13*, 100751. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100751</u>
- Stanton, R., To, Q. G., Khalesi, S., Williams, S. L., Alley, S. J., Thwaite, T. L., ... Vandelanotte, C. (2020). Depression, Anxiety and Stress during COVID-19: Associations with Changes in Physical Activity, Sleep, Tobacco and Alcohol Use in Australian Adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(11). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17114065
- 83. Singh, K., Kondal, D., Mohan, S., Jaganathan, S., Deepa, M., Venkateshmurthy, N. S., . . . Eggleston, K. (2021). Health, psychosocial, and economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with chronic conditions in India: a mixed methods study. *BMC Public Health, 21*(1), 15. Available





from:10.1186/s12889-021-10708-w

- 84. Wang, J., Yeoh, E. K., Yung, T. K. C., Wong, M. C. S., Dong, D., Chen, X., . . . Chong, K. C. (2021). Change in eating habits and physical activities before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong: a cross-sectional study via random telephone survey. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition, 18*(1). Available from:10.1186/s12970-021-00431-7
- 85. Koyama, S., Tabuchi, T., Okawa, S., Kadobayashi, T., Shirai, H., Nakatani, T., & Miyashiro, I. (2021). Changes in smoking behavior since the declaration of the COVID-19 state of emergency in Japan: A cross-sectional study from the Osaka health app. *Journal of Epidemiology, 31*(6), 378-386. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.2188/jea.JE20200533
- 86. Mistry, S. K., Ali, A. M., Rahman, M. A., Yadav, U. N., Gupta, B., Rahman, M. A., & Huque, R. (2021). Changes in tobacco use patterns during COVID-19 and their correlates among older adults in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(4). Available from:10.3390/ijerph18041779
- 87. Callinan, S., Smit, K., Mojica-Perez, Y., D'Aquino, S., Moore, D., & Kuntsche, E. (2021). Shifts in alcohol consumption during the COVID-19 pandemic: early indications from Australia. *Addiction, 116*(6), 1381-1388. Available from:10.1111/add.15275
- 88. Wang, J., Gong, Y., Chen, Z., Wu, J., Feng, J., Yan, S., . . . Yin, X. (2020). Sleep disturbances among Chinese residents during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 outbreak and associated factors. *Sleep Medicine*, *74*, 199-203. Available from:10.1016/j.sleep.2020.08.002
- Shan Wong, S. Y., Zhang, D., Shan Sit, R. W., Kei Yip, B. H., Chung, R. Y. N., Man Wong, C. K., . . . Mercer, S. W. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on loneliness, mental health, and health service utilisation: A prospective cohort study of older adults with multimorbidity in primary care. *British Journal of General Practice*, *70*(700), E817-E824. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3399/BJGP20X713021</u>
- 90. Liang, W., Duan, Y., Shang, B., Hu, C., Baker, J. S., Lin, Z., . . . Wang, Y. (2021). Precautionary behavior and depression in older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: An online cross-sectional study in Hubei, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(4). Available from:10.3390/ijerph18041853
- 91. Fujita, K., Inoue, A., Kuzuya, M., Uno, C., Huang, C. H., Umegaki, H., & Onishi, J. (2021). Mental Health Status of the Older Adults in Japan During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 22*(1), 220-221. Available from:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2020.11.023</u>
- 92. Noguchi, T., Hayashi, T., Kubo, Y., Tomiyama, N., Ochi, A., & Hayashi, H. (2021). Association between family caregivers and depressive symptoms among community-dwelling older adults in Japan: A cross-sectional study during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics, 96*, 104468. Available from:10.1016/j.archger.2021.104468
- 93. Malek Rivan, N. F., Yahya, H. M., Shahar, S., Ajit Singh, D. K., Ibrahim, N., Mat Ludin, A. F., . . . Kamaruddin, M. Z. A. (2021). The impact of poor nutrient intakes and food insecurity on the psychological distress among community-dwelling middle-aged and older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nutrients*, *13*(2), 1-12. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/nu13020353</u>
- 94. Fukase, Y., Ichikura, K., Murase, H., & Tagaya, H. (2021). Depression, risk factors, and coping strategies in the context of social dislocations resulting from the second wave of COVID-19 in Japan. *BMC Psychiatry, 21*(1). Available from: 10.1186/s12888-021-03047-y
- 95. Irmak, A. Y., Çelikkalp, Ü., & Ekuklu, G. (2021). Evaluation of the chronic disease management and depression levels of people over 65 years of age during the COVID-19 pandemic period. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, *57*(3), 1409-1416. Available from: 10.1111/ppc.12706
- 96. Ibrahim, A., Chong, M. C., Khoo, S., Wong, L. P., Chung, I., & Tan, M. P. (2021). Virtual group exercises and psychological status among community-dwelling older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic—A feasibility study. *Geriatrics*, *θ*(1). Available from: 10.3390/geriatrics6010031
- 97. Hossain, M. A., Jahid, M. I. K., Amran Hossain, K. M., Walton, L. M., Uddin, Z., Haque, M. O., . . . Hossain,
 Z. (2020). Knowledge Attitudes and fear of COVID-19 during the Rapid Rise Period in Bangladesh. *PloS* One, 15(9 September). Available from: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239646
- 98. Surme, Y., Ozmen, N., & Arik, B. E. (2021). Fear of COVID-19 and Related Factors in Emergency





Department Patients. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. Available from: 10.1007/s11469-021-00575-2

- 99. Yadav, U. N., Yadav, O. P., Singh, D. R., Ghimire, S., Rayamajhee, B., Kanti Mistry, S., . . . Mehta, S. (2021). Perceived fear of COVID-19 and its associated factors among Nepalese older adults in eastern Nepal: A cross-sectional study. *PloS One, 16*(7), e0254825. Available from: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254825
- 100. Klanidhi, K. B., Ranjan, P., Kaur, T., Khan, M., Ghosh, T., Upadhyay, A. D., ... Prakash, B. (2021). Sociobehavioural impact of COVID-19 on general population: A cross-sectional survey of one thousand seventy-nine participants across India between the first and the second wave of pandemic. *Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews, 15*(4). Available from: 10.1016/j.dsx.2021.05.017
- 101. Teo, C. L., Chee, M. L., Koh, K. H., Tseng, R. M. W. W., Majithia, S., Thakur, S., . . . Cheng, C. Y. (2021). COVID-19 awareness, knowledge and perception towards digital health in an urban multi-ethnic Asian population. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). Available from: 10.1038/s41598-021-90098-6
- 102. Guner, T. A., Erdogan, Z., & Demir, I. (2021). The effect of loneliness on death anxiety in the elderly during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Omega Journal of Death and Dying*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/00302228211010587</u>
- 103. Nam, P. T., Dung, N. H., Liem, N. K., Hung, N. T., Ly, D. K., & Van Minh, H. (2021). Anxiety among the Vietnamese population during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Implications for social work practice. *Social Work in Public Health, 36*(2), 142-149. Available from: 10.1080/19371918.2020.1871461
- 104. Devkota, H. R., Sijali, T. R., Bogati, R., Ahmad, M., Shakya, K. L., & Adhikary, P. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on mental health outcomes among hospital fever clinic attendants across Nepal: A crosssectional study. *PloS One, 16*(3 March). Available from: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248684
- 105. Yamamoto, T., Uchiumi, C., Suzuki, N., Yoshimoto, J., & Murillo-Rodriguez, E. (2020). The Psychological Impact of 'Mild Lockdown' in Japan during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Nationwide Survey under a Declared State of Emergency. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(24). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17249382
- 106. Hung, M. S. Y., Lam, S. K. K., Chan, L. C. K., Liu, S. P. S., & Chow, M. C. M. (2021). The Psychological and Quality of Life Impacts on Women in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(13). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18136734
- 107. Every-Palmer, S., Jenkins, M., Gendall, P., Hoek, J., Beaglehole, B., Bell, C., . . . Stanley, J. (2020).
 Psychological distress, anxiety, family violence, suicidality, and wellbeing in New Zealand during the COVID-19 lockdown: A cross-sectional study. *PloS One, 15*(11). Available from: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241658
- 108. Mani, A., Estedlal, A. R., Kamali, M., Ghaemi, S. Z., Zarei, L., Shokrpour, N., . . . Lankarani, K. B. (2020). Mental health status during COVID-19 pandemic in Fars Province, Iran: timely measures. *BMC Public Health, 20*(1). Available from: 10.1186/s12889-020-09928-3
- 109. Maarefvand, M., Hosseinzadeh, S., Farmani, O., Farahani, A. S., & Khubchandani, J. (2020). Coronavirus Outbreak and Stress in Iranians. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(12). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17124441
- 110. Yang, X., Yip, B. H. K., Mak, A. D. P., Zhang, D., Lee, E. L. P., & Wong, S. Y. S. (2021). The differential effects of social media on depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation among the younger and older adult population in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic: Population-based cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Public Health & Surveillance, 7*(5), e24623. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2196/24623</u>
- 111. Shi, Z., Qin, Y., Chair, S. Y., Liu, Y., Tian, Y., Li, X., . . . Wang, Q. (2021). Anxiety and depression levels of the general population during the rapid progressing stage in the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak: A cross-sectional online investigation in China. *BMJ Open*, *11*(5). Available from: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050084
- 112. Lal, A., Sanaullah, A., Saleem, M. K. M., Ahmed, N., Maqsood, A., & Ahmed, N. (2020). Psychological Distress among Adults in Home Confinement in the Midst of COVID-19 Outbreak. *European Journal of Dentistry, 14*, S27-S33. Available from: 10.1055/s-0040-1718644





- 113. Saikia, U., Dodd, M. M., Chalmers, J., Dasvarma, G., & Schech, S. (2021). COVID-19, individual wellbeing, and multi-dimensional poverty in the state of South Australia. *PLoS ONE, 16*(6), e0252898. Available from: 10.1371/journal.pone.0252898
- 114. Yan, E., Lai, D. W. L., & Lee, V. W. P. (2021). Predictors of intention to vaccinate against COVID-19 in the general public in Hong Kong: Findings from a population-based, cross-sectional survey. *Vaccines*, *9*(7). Available from: 10.3390/vaccines9070696
- 115. Pothisiri, W., & Vicerra, P. M. M. (2021). Psychological distress during COVID-19 pandemic in lowincome and middle-income countries: A cross-sectional study of older persons in Thailand. *BMJ Open*, *11*(4), e047650. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047650</u>
- 116. Kim, H. H., & Jung, J. H. (2021). Social Isolation and Psychological Distress During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-National Analysis. *Gerontologist*, *61*(1), 103-113. Available from: 10.1093/geront/gnaa168
- 117. Sharifi, N., Rezaei, N., Fathnezhad-Kazemi, A., & Ghiasi, F. (2021). Association between fear of COVID-19 with self-care behaviors in elderly: A cross-sectional study. *Social Work in Public Health, 36*(5), 606-614. Available from: 10.1080/19371918.2021.1937435
- 118. Prasanta, M., Shyamalendu, L., Aesha, Z., Manisha, K., Anudarsh, P. K., & Pallavi, A. T. (2021). Epidemiology of COVID-19 scenario in India. *Novel Research in Microbiology Journal, 5*(4), 1294-1300. Available from: 10.21608/nrmj.2021.190244
- 119. Bansode, M., Bansode, P., & Nagarkar, M. (2021). Clinical, Socioeconomic, and Psychosocial Profile of COVID 19 Patients at a Tertiary COVID Designated Hospital in Pune, India. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Research International, 33*(36B), 30-35. Available from: 10.9734/JPRI/2021/v33i36B31949
- 120. GÜNer, R., HasanoĞLu, İ., Kayaaslan, B., Aypak, A., Kaya Kalem, A., Eser, F., . . . Akinci, E. (2020). COVID-19 experience of the major pandemic response center in the capital: results of the pandemic's first month in Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences, 50*(8), 1801-1809. Available from: 10.3906/sag-2006-164
- 121. Oh, I. H., Ock, M., Jang, S. Y., Go, D. S., Kim, Y. E., Jung, Y. S., . . . Yoon, S. J. (2020). Years of life lost attributable to COVID-19 in high-incidence countries. *Journal of Korean medical science, 35*(32), e300. Available from: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e300
- 122. Mistry, S. K., Ali, A. R. M. M., Hossain, M. B., Yadav, U. N., Ghimire, S., Rahman, M. A., ... Huque, R. (2021). Exploring depressive symptoms and its associates among Bangladeshi older adults amid COVID-19 pandemic: findings from a cross-sectional study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00127-021-02052-6</u>
- 123. Wong, L. P., Hung, C.-C., Alias, H., & Lee, T. S.-H. (2020). Anxiety symptoms and preventive measures during the COVID-19 outbreak in Taiwan. *BMC Psychiatry, 20*(1), 1-9.
- 124. Tabassum, M., Parvej, M. I., Ahmed, F., Zafreen, F., & Sultana, S. (2021). Effect of COVID-19 on perceived stress among Bangladeshi people. *Mental Health Review Journal*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MHRJ-07-2020-0042</u>
- 125. Su, F., Fan, B., Song, N., Dong, X., Wang, Y., Li, J., . . . Qiao, X. (2021). Survey on Public Psychological Intervention Demand and Influence Factors Analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(9). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18094808
- 126. Cihan, F. G., & Gokgoz Durmaz, F. (2021). Evaluation of COVID-19 phobia and the feeling of loneliness in the geriatric age group. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, *75*(6). Available from: 10.1111/ijcp.14089
- Bono, S. A., Faria de Moura Villela, E., Siau, C. S., Chen, W. S., Pengpid, S., Hasan, M. T., ... Colebunders, R. (2021). Factors affecting COVID-19 vaccine acceptance: An international survey among low- and middle-income countries. *Vaccines*, *9*(5). Available from: 10.3390/vaccines9050515
- 128. Hino, K., & Asami, Y. (2021). Change in walking steps and association with built environments during the COVID-19 state of emergency: A longitudinal comparison with the first half of 2019 in Yokohama, Japan. *Health and Place, 69*, 102544. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2021.102544.
- 129. Zheng, Y. B., Shi, L., Lu, Z. A., Que, J. Y., Yuan, K., Huang, X. L., . . . Lu, L. (2021). Mental Health Status of





Late-Middle-Aged Adults in China During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. *Frontiers in Public Health, 9.* Available from: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.643988

- 130. Du, P., & Chen, Y. (2021). Prevalence of elder abuse and victim-related risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1096. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11175-z</u>
- 131. Siette, J., Seaman, K., Dodds, L., Ludlow, K., Johnco, C., Wuthrich, V., . . . Westbrook, J. I. (2021). A national survey on COVID-19 second-wave lockdowns on older adults' mental wellbeing, health-seeking behaviours and social outcomes across Australia. *BMC Geriatrics, 21*(1), 400. Available from: 10.1186/s12877-021-02352-1
- Hegde, S. K. B., Sharma, M., Alam, I., Bambrah, H. S., Deshmukh, A., & Varma, D. (2021). Leveraging Health Helplines to Combat COVID-19 Pandemic: A Descriptive Study of Helpline Utilization for COVID-19 in Eight States of India. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health, 33*(4), 441-444. Available from: 10.1177/10105395211001173
- Kadoya, Y., Watanapongvanich, S., Yuktadatta, P., Putthinun, P., Lartey, S. T., & Khan, M. S. R. (2021). Willing or Hesitant? A Socioeconomic Study on the Potential Acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccine in Japan. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(9). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18094864
- 134. HelpAge International (2020). *COVID-19 and older people in Asia Pacific: 2020 in review*. HelpAge International. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/resources/publications/?ssearch=covid&adv=0&topic=0®ion=0&langu</u> <u>age=0&type=0</u>
- 135. Pothisiri W, Buathong T, & B., B. (2021). *The Impact of COVID 19 on Older Persons in Thailand: Evidence from the Survey.* Bangkok, UNFPA. Available from: <u>https://thailand.unfpa.org/en/covid-op</u>
- 136. Christy, J. S., Kaur, K., Gurnani, B., Hess, O. M., Narendran, K., Venugopal, A., . . . Venkatesh, R. (2020). Knowledge, attitude, and practise toward COVID-19 among patients presenting to five tertiary eye care hospitals in South India--A multicentre questionnaire-based survey. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology, 68*(11), 2385-2390. Available from: 10.4103/ijo.IJO_2522_20
- 137. Chua, C. E., Kew, G. S., Demutska, A., Quek, S., Loo, E. X. L., Gui, H., . . . Siah, K. T. H. (2021). Factors associated with high compliance behaviour against COVID-19 in the early phase of pandemic: a cross-sectional study in 12 Asian countries. *BMJ open, 11*(8), e046310. Available from: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046310
- 138. Huynh, G., Nguyen, M. Q., Tran, T. T., Nguyen, V. T., Nguyen, T. V., Do, T. H. T., ... Nguyen, T. N. H. (2020). Knowledge, attitude, and practices regarding covid-19 among chronic illness patients at outpatient departments in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy, 13*, 1571-1578. Available from: 10.2147/RMHP.S268876
- 139. Yodmai, K., Pechrapa, K., Kittipichai, W., Charupoonpol, P., & Suksatan, W. (2021). Factors associated with good COVID-19 preventive behaviors among older adults in urban communities in Thailand. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health, 12*, 21501327211036251. Available from: 10.1177/21501327211036251
- 140. Say, B., ÖZenÇ, B., & ErgÜN, U. (2020). Covid-19 perception and self reported impact of pandemic on Parkinson's disease symptoms of patients with physically independent Parkinson's disease. *Neurology Asia, 25*(4), 485-491.
- Honarvar, B., Lankarani, K. B., Kharmandar, A., Shaygani, F., Zahedroozgar, M., Rahmanian Haghighi, M. R., ... Zare, M. (2020). Knowledge, attitudes, risk perceptions, and practices of adults toward COVID-19: a population and field-based study from Iran. *International Journal of Public Health*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00038-020-01406-2</u>
- 142. Hossain, M. B., Alam, M. Z., Islam, M. S., Sultan, S., Faysal, M. M., Rima, S., . . . Shoma, S. S. (2020). Do knowledge and attitudes matter for preventive behavioral practices toward the COVID-19? A cross-sectional online survey among the adult population in Bangladesh. *Heliyon, 6*(12). Available from: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05799
- 143. Kim, S., & Kim, S. (2020). Analysis of the impact of health beliefs and resource factors on preventive





behaviors against the covid-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(22), 1-21. Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17228666

- 144. Srichan, P., Apidechkul, T., Tamornpark, R., Yeemard, F., Khunthason, S., Kitchanapaiboon, S., ... Upala, P. (2020). Knowledge, attitudes and preparedness to respond to COVID-19 among the border population of northern Thailand in the early period of the pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *WHO South-East Asia journal of public health, 9*(2), 118-125. Available from: 10.4103/2224-3151.294305
- 145. Kashima, S., & Zhang, J. (2021). Temporal trends in voluntary behavioural changes during the early stages of the COVID-19 outbreak in Japan. *Public Health, 192*, 37-44. Available from: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.01.002
- 146. Okumura, J. (2021). Polarized nature of the COVID-19 pandemic in Japan: associations with population age structure and behaviours. *Tropical Medicine and Health, 49*(1). Available from: 10.1186/s41182-021-00324-0
- 147. Ye, Y., Wang, R., Feng, D., Wu, R., Li, Z., Long, C., . . . Tang, S. (2020). The Recommended and Excessive Preventive Behaviors during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Community-Based Online Survey in China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(19). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17196953
- 148. Kilincel, O., Muratdagi, G., Aydin, A., Oksuz, A., Atadag, Y. B., Etcioglu, E., & Ozen, F. (2020). The anxiety and loneliness levels of geriatric population in-home quarantine during COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey. *Klinik Psikiyatri Dergisi-Turkish Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 23*, 7-14. Available from: 10.5505/kpd.2020.04382
- 149. Wong, S. Y. S., Zhang, D., Sit, R. W. S., Yip, B. H. K., Chung, R. Y., Wong, C. K. M., . . . Mercer, S. W. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on loneliness, mental health, and health service utilisation: a prospective cohort study of older adults with multimorbidity in primary care. *Br J Gen Pract, 70*(700), e817-e824. Available from: 10.3399/bjgp20X713021
- 150. Pek, K., Tan, C., Yew, S., Yeo, A., Lim, J., Chew, J., & Lim, W. (2021). COVID-19 Pandemic Control Measures: Impact on Social Frailty and Health Outcomes in Non-Frail Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 1-3.
- 151. The World Bank (2021). *COVID-19 High Frequency Survey of Households and Children 2020-2021, Waves 1 and 2*. Available from: <u>https://microdata.worldbank.org/index.php/catalog/3852</u>
- 152. Kyaw, T. A., Fok, C., Teh, R., Tin, S. T., Williams, E., McAuliffe, M., & Searchfield, G. D. (2021). Impact of covid-19 lockdown on social support status among older new zealanders with hearing impairment. *Speech, Language and Hearing*. Available from: 10.1080/2050571X.2021.1935120
- 153. Yamada, M., Kimura, Y., Ishiyama, D., Otobe, Y., Suzuki, M., Koyama, S., . . . Arai, H. (2021). The Influence of the COVID-19 Pandemic on physical activity and new incidence of frailty among initially non-frail older adults in Japan: A follow-up online survey. *Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 25*(6), 751-756. Available from: 10.1007/s12603-021-1634-2
- 154. Mistry, S. K., Ali, A., Hossain, M. B., Yadav, U. N., Ghimire, S., Rahman, M. A., . . . Huque, R. (2021). Exploring depressive symptoms and its associates among Bangladeshi older adults amid COVID-19 pandemic: findings from a cross-sectional study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, 56*(8), 1487-1497. Available from: 10.1007/s00127-021-02052-6
- 155. Li, F., Luo, S., Mu, W., Li, Y., Ye, L., Zheng, X., . . . Chen, X. (2021). Effects of sources of social support and resilience on the mental health of different age groups during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Psychiatry*, *21*(1), 16. Available from: 10.1186/s12888-020-03012-1
- 156. Dawes, T., Muru-Lanning, M., Lapsley, H., Hopa, N., Dixon, N., Moore, C., . . . Oh, M. (2021). Hongi, Harirū and Hau: Kaumātua in the time of COVID-19. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 51*(S1), S23-S36. Available from: 10.1080/03036758.2020.1853182
- 157. Siette, J., Dodds, L., Seaman, K., Wuthrich, V., Johnco, C., Earl, J., . . . Westbrook, J. I. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on the quality of life of older adults receiving community-based aged care. *Australasian Journal on Ageing, 40*(1), 84-89. Available from: 10.1111/ajag.12924
- 158. Bakshi, T., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2021). Socially Distanced or Socially Connected? Well-being through ICT Usage among the Indian Elderly during COVID-19. *Millennial Asia, 12*(2), 190-208. Available from:





10.1177/0976399621989910

- 159. Lee, C. J., & Hsu, Y. (2021). Promoting the quality of life of elderly during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(13). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18136813
- 160. Yu, N., & Jiang, Z. (2020). Preference and Trust: An Investigation of Information Source of COVID-19 Among People Over 50 Years. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health, 32*(8), 476-478.
- 161. Hosseini, S., Mohsenpour, M. A., Bahrevar, V., Rahmanian, V., & Hazar, N. (2020). Which information sources do people choose during the COVID-19 pandemic: Mass media or social media? A survey in Iran. *Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences, 14*(3), 1562-1565.
- 162. Wang, J., Katz, I., Li, J., Wu, Q., & Dai, C. (2021). Mobile digital divide and older people's access to 'Internet plus social work': implications from the COVID-19 help-seeking cases. *Asia Pacific Journal of Social Work & Development, 31*(1/2), 52-58. Available from: 10.1080/02185385.2020.1850332
- 163. Bhatia, R. (2021). Telehealth and COVID-19: Using technology to accelerate the curve on access and quality healthcare for citizens in India. *Technology in Society, 64*. Available from: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101465
- 164. Lee, J. J., Kang, K. A., Wang, M. P., Zhao, S. Z., Wong, J. Y. H., O'Connor, S., . . . Shin, S. (2020). Associations between COVID-19 misinformation exposure and belief with COVID-19 knowledge and preventive behaviors: cross-sectional online study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(11), e22205. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2196/22205</u>
- 165. Satake, S., Kinoshita, K., & Arai, H. (2021). More Active Participation in Voluntary Exercise of Older Users of Information and Communicative Technology Even During the COVID-19 Pandemic, Independent of Frailty Status. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 25*(4), 516-519.
- 166. Sun, Q., & Lu, N. (2020). Social capital and mental health among older adults living in urban china in the context of COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17*(21). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph17217947
- 167. Chan, W., Chui, C. H. K., Cheung, J. C. S., Lum, T. Y. S., & Lu, S. (2021). Associations between Volunteering and Mental Health during COVID-19 among Chinese Older Adults. *J Gerontol Soc Work,* 64(6), 599-612. Available from: 10.1080/01634372.2021.1904079
- 168. Ikeuchi, T., Taniguchi, Y., Abe, T., Seino, S., Shimada, C., Kitamura, A., & Shinkai, S. (2021). Association between Experience of Pet Ownership and Psychological Health among Socially Isolated and Non-Isolated Older Adults. *Animals (Basel), 11*(3). Available from: 10.3390/ani11030595
- 169. Nair, P., Gill, J. S., Sulaiman, A. H., Koh, O. H., & Francis, B. (2021). Mental health correlates among older persons residing in Malaysian nursing homes during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 5. Available from: 10.1177/10105395211032094
- Lee, A. T. C., Mo, F. Y. M., & Lam, L. C. W. (2020). Higher psychogeriatric admissions in COVID-19 than in severe acute respiratory syndrome. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *35*(12), 1449-1457. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.5422</u>
- 171. Ates, O. (2020). COVID-19 lockdown: the unspoken toll on the 65+ community in Turkey. *Working with Older People*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/WWOP-07-2020-0037</u>
- 172. Baser, D. A., Fidanci, I., Aksoy, H., Cevik, M., & Cankurtaran, M. (2021). Biopsychosocial Needs of Elderly Individuals in Prolonged Social Isolation During the COVID-19 Outbreak: A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Gerontology, 15*(2), 133-137. Available from: 10.6890/ijge.202104_15(2).0009
- 173. Yildirim, H. (2021). Psychosocial status of older adults aged 65 years and over during lockdown in Turkey and their perspectives on the outbreak. *Health and Social Care in the Community*. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13542</u>
- 174. Kim, J., Kim, Y., & Ha, J. (2021). Changes in daily life during the COVID-19 pandemic among South Korean older adults with chronic diseases: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(13). Available from: 10.3390/ijerph18136781
- 175. Chee, S. Y. (2020). COVID-19 Pandemic: The Lived Experiences of Older Adults in Aged Care Homes. *Millennial Asia, 11*(3), 299-317. Available from: 10.1177/0976399620958326
- 176. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2021). Beyond the





pandemic: building back better from crises in Asia and the Pacific (9211208246). Bangkok, United Nations. Availabe from: https://www.unescap.org/kp/2021/beyond-pandemic-building-back-better-crises-asia-and-pacific

- 177. Gentilini, U., Almenfi, M., Orton, I., & Dale, P. (2020). *Social Protection and Jobs Responses to COVID-19*. The World Bank. Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33635</u>
- 178. International Labor Organization (2021). Social Protection Responses to COVID-19 Crisis Around the World. Available from: <u>https://www.social-protection.org/gimi/ShowWiki.action?id=3417</u>
- 179. Karr, J., Loh, K., & San Andres, E. (2020). COVID-19, 4IR and the future of work. *APEC Policy Support Unit Brief*(34).
- 180. Igarashi, H., Kurth, M. L., Lee, H. S., Choun, S., Lee, D., & Aldwin, C. M. (2021). Resilience in Older Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Socioecological Approach. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*.
- 181. Haldane, V., De Foo, C., Abdalla, S. M., Jung, A.-S., Tan, M., Wu, S., . . . Singh, S. (2021). Health systems resilience in managing the COVID-19 pandemic: lessons from 28 countries. *Nature Medicine*, 1-17.
- 182. Lal, A., Erondu, N. A., Heymann, D. L., Gitahi, G., & Yates, R. (2021). Fragmented health systems in COVID-19: rectifying the misalignment between global health security and universal health coverage. *The Lancet, 397*(10268), 61-67.
- 183. World Health Organization (2020). *Rapid assessment of service delivery for NCDs during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Geveva, Switzerland, World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/rapid-assessment-of-service-delivery-for-ncds-during-the-covid-19-pandemic</u>
- 184. Yeyati, E. L., & Filippini, F. (2021). *Social and Economic Impact of COVID-19*. Washington, D.C, Brookings Institute. Available from: https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/06/Social-and-economic-impact-COVID.pdf
- 185. Douglas, M., Katikireddi, S. V., Taulbut, M., McKee, M., & McCartney, G. (2020). Mitigating the wider health effects of Covid-19 pandemic response. *BMJ*, *369*.
- 186. Nimako, K., & Kruk, M. E. (2021). Seizing the moment to rethink health systems. *The Lancet Global Health*.
- 187. Lancet (2021). Can digital technologies improve health? *Lancet, 398*(10312), 1663.
- 188. Lancet (2020). COVID-19: a new lens for non-communicable diseases. Lancet, 396(10252), 649.
- 189. Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (2021). Update to the 2012 Analytical Outcome Study on the normative standards in international human rights law in relation to older persons. Geveva, Switzerland, Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. Available from: https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/2022-01/OHCHR-HROP-working-paper-22-Mar-2021.pdf

